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We are redefining the potential of genomics and information technology to illuminate
the molecular basis of human disease and toxicity to help revolutionize
modern drug discovery and development.

THE POTENTIAL OF GENOMICS AND BIOINFORMATICS
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We are redefining the potential to establish a successful and sustainable business by developing

genomics-based information products and services that use innovative technologies

to enhance traditional bench-top drug discovery and development.

THE POTENTIAL FOR BUSINESS SUCCESS

P
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in thousands, except per share data
Revenue

Expenses

Operating income (loss)

Net income (loss)

EPS

Cash, cash equivalents and marketable securities

To develop innovative genomics-based information products and services
related to the molecular basis of human disease and toxicity that enable
global pharmaceutical and biotechnology companies to create efficiencies in
and reduce the time, risk and cost of drug discovery and development.

T T N A GAl LI

Gene Logic is a leading provider of innovative functional genomics information
products, services and bioinformatics tools, which focus on human biology and
pathology. Qur primary objective is to become an indispensable partner for drug
discovery and development research by providing biclogical information and
in silico analysis products and related services that impact pharmaceutical and
biotechnology pipeline bottlenecks.

2001 2000 1999 1998" 1997
$ 43,228 $ 26,883 $ 19,202 $ 13,197 $ 2,047
$ 75,878 $ 63,308 $ 40,288 $ 59,734 $ 9,886

$ 35,248 $ (36,425) $ (21,086) $ (46,537) $ (7,839
$ 33,00 $ (24,017) $ (20,591) $ (44,873) $ (8,480)

{1.23) $ (095 $ (1.09) $ (2.86) $ (3.97)
SEELR $ 229,482 $ 12,446 $ 30,982 $ 46,621

RS
(S

(1) In connection with our acquisition of Oncormed, Inc., we incurred a non-recurring charge of $35.2 million related to the write-off of acquired in-process research and development.




DEAR SHAREHOLDERS: 5

Thank you for investing in Gene Logic.

Our Company is helping transform the way drugs are discovered and
developed. We discover and sell information about which genes are active and
inactive in human development, disease and toxicity. This kind of information
is fast becoming a vital tool for pharmaceutical and biotechnology companies
struggling with how to improve the efficiency with which they develop drugs.
We are situated at the forefront of an industry trend where companies
aggressively mine massive databases such as our GeneExpress® to better

prioritize drug targets, candidate compounds and patient treatment groups.

2001 was a pivotal and successful year for Gene Logic. As the year began, we
made the critical decision to significantly expand our capacity to generate data
for our information products. This accelerated growth was financially costly. In
fact, our expenses grew from $63 million to nearly $80 million. Our rationale
was simple; grow the content of the underlying database to levels that will
attract more pharmaceutical and biotechnology customers. During 2001, we
sold our information products and services to an increasing number of
pharmaceutical and biotechnology customers. Most importantly, the financial
magnitude of our deals exceeded our expectations. Total revenue for 2001 was
$43.3 million, a 61% increase over 2000. This was the fifth consecutive year

our revenues grew by greater than 40%. REVENUE inmilions

The expansion of our database content also enabled us to broaden our $40
GeneExpress® product line with the launch of additional DataSuites™ (Human

Atlas, Cardiovascular, and Central Nervous System) and a new single gene $30
analysis report product called GeneExpress® Reports. During the year, we also

faunched an enterprise-wide integration software system and supportive $20
services called Genesis: The GeneExpress Enterprise System™. More recently,
we expanded our ToxExpress™ Program to include predictive modeling

$10
capabilities. These efforts create new market opportunities and enable us to

integrate our information products and services more effectively within our H

customers’ research and development programs. 97 98 99 oo or




During the year, we forged alliances with several content, technology and
software providers to further our leadership position and to ensure the
continued growth of our business. We established an exclusive commercial-
use license with BioCarta Inc. for its broad collection of signal transduction
pathways for visualizing protein interactions. We renegotiated and extended
our alliance with Affymetrix, Inc. and formed an alliance with Compugen,
Ltd. to integrate into the GeneExpress® product line a custom version of their

human Gencarta™ annotated genomic and proteomic database.

In July 2002, we spun-off our proprietary Flow-thru Chip™ technology into
a new company, MetriGenix, Inc. MetriGenix raised $15 million of first-
round financing and has made significant progress in commercializing its
microarray products. Following the financing, Gene Logic and its

shareholders owned approximately 54% of the equity interest in MetriGenix.

During the year, 1 was named as Chairman of the Board replacing my
longtime colleague Michael Brennan, who remains on the Board. In February
2002, we appointed J. Stark Thompson to our Board of Directors. Stark was
formerly the President and CEQ of Life Technologies, Inc. for more than 12
years. Under Stark’s leadership, Life Technologies grew to one of the world’s
largest and most respected life science supply companies. He will bring a

unique industry perspective to the Board.

The prospects for our Company have never been better. In 2002, we plan to
nearly double the size of both our BioExpress™ and ToxExpress™ data sets.
In addition, virtually all BioExpress™ data is in the process of being
completely upgraded using the newest Affymetrix GeneChip® microarrays in
order to give a broader view of the genome. On the data management side,
we will be implementing our Genesis™ software system at GlaxeSmithKline,
Pfizer and other companies to integrate their genomic information from

multiple worldwide sites.

Going forward, I remain convinced we are in a unigue position within the

genomics industry. We have created proprietary information tools that

provide critical insights for our pharmaceutical and biotechnology customers.




Our customer base is expanding and currently comprises representatives from
the largest global pharmaceutical and biotechnology companies to the
smailest start-up biopharmaceutical companies. We have created a
leadership position that is defendable, as we remain focused on information
products as the key to our long-term success. Most importantly, we continue
to make steady progress towards our goal of profitability. In 2002, our
objective is to grow annual revenue by more than 50% to $65 million while

significantly cutting our annual loss.

I am grateful for the support of our customers, suppliers, collaborators and
shareholders, and for the commitment and dedication of our employees,

whose collective efforts make our aspirations possible.

At — '
// /M—\/
Mark D. Gessler

Chairman, Chief Executive Officer and President
28 March 2002







pharmaceutical and biotechnology customers 9

Since the beginning of 2001, we have sold our genomics
information products and services to a broad group of
global pharmaceutical and biotechnology customers.

i Artesian Therapeutics, Inc. GlaxoSmithKline, plc. PsychoGenics, Inc.

l AstraZeneca Pharmaceuticals 7 IDEC Pharmaceuticals Corporation Sankyo Co. Ltd. . L
Athersys, Inc. Japan Tobacco Inc. L Sumitomo Pharmaceuticals Co., Ltd.
Avalon Pharmaceuticals, Inc. LG Chemical Ltd. Takeda Chemical Industries, Ltd,
Aventis Pharmaceuticals, Inc. Merphochem AG UCB Research
Biogen, Inc. o Neuralstem, Inc. o Vertex Pharmaceuticals, Inc.
Boehringer Ingelheim KG . 7 N.V. Organon B Wyeth e
Daiichi Pharmaceuticals Co., Ltd. o Pfizer, Inc. o ZYC0S Inc. . o
DGI Bio Technologies Procter & Gamble Pharmaceuticals Unnamed Biopharmaceutical Company
Genaissance Pharmaceuticals, Inc. Proteologics, Inc.
Genentech, Inc. Psychiatric Genomics, Inc.

At Gene Logic, we are redefining the role of companies who

support drug discovery and development. Through our focus

on information, we are establishing a portfolio of global

. customers with whom we are providing enabling products
e that combine robust bicinformatics and, more importantly,

proprietary genomic content. Our pharmaceutical and

biotechnology customers have chosen us to be the provider

of innovative information products to impact their research

TR efforts. Our customer base comprises a worldwide view of

the life science industry and spans a broad cross-section
i of the market—from the preeminent pharmaceutical
and biotechnology corporations to the newly-minted
biopharmaceutical companies. Equally important are our
current business and scientific partners, who are
representative of our initial steps to leverage our customer
base by becoming a distributor of others’ proprietary yet
complementary content. Together with our own proprietary
gene expression content, we, as a distribution channel, are
in the unigue position to create genomics information
products and services of even greater value for our drug

discovery and development customers.




I0.

GeneExpress®

BioExpress™
Human Atlas DataSuite™
Oncology DataSuite™
Cardiovascular {CVS) DataSuite™
Central Nervous Systemn (CNS) DataSuite™
GeneExpress® Reports

ToxExpress™

Genesis: The GeneExpress Enterprise System™

GeneExpress® Gencarta™

genomic information products & services

At Gene Logic, we are redefining the way genomic
information is marketed and sold. Through a broad line of
innovative genomic information products and services, we
are creating multiple value opportunities, at multiple price
points, that relate to the broad, as well as focused, research
initiatives of our drug discovery and development
customers. Our products enable pharmaceutical and
biotechnology researchers: to identify novel gene targets
related to human disease or toxicity; to conduct mechanism
of action studies on gene targets to further understand the
molecular basis for human pathology or toxicity; and to
manage, analyze, and visualize on an enterprise-wide basis
large volumes of genomic information sets generated using
different technology platforms. Qur products comprise
proprietary genomic information and a sophisticated
assortment of bioinformatics tools that enable rapid
analysis, sorting, and management of massive scale data
sets. Our products serve both the content and bioinformatics
needs of life science research. We are creating in silico-
based research products that bridge traditional bench-top
research methods with modern genomics-based desk-top
methods. Moreover, because we utilize the industry-leading
microarray platform in building our data sets, our products
can be integrated with customers’ existing data sets
generated in-house.

Going forward, we plan to further our information product
line to incorporate additional disease/indication specific
products, products that will integrate complementary data
sets and software from leading third-party providers, as
well as new sets of information (proteomics, etc.) that
continue to resonate with the research requirements of our
modern drug discovery and development customers.

. ADENOCARCINK
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core competencies

At Gene Logic, we are redefining the critical success factors necessary to
create a successful and sustainable information business. The core
competencies we have developed in creating and selling our genomics
information products and services are a unique blend of biology, genomics
technology, bioinformatics, and traditional sales strategies that present
significant ongoing challenges, as much as significant barriers to entry.
Our competencies are the foundation for our entire business model.

BIOREPOSITORY/BIOCONTENT For gene expression analysis, we acquire and
handle human and animal tissue samples and cell lines and associated clinical
information using stringent quality control measures; following the genomic
analysis, residual sample material remains, which we store and intend to use
again on other genomic analysis technologies.

GENOMIC DATA PRODUCTION We analyze each tissue sample from the
Biorepository using the latest microarray technologies, applied on an
industrial scale, which results in a detailed quantitative understanding of the
molecutar mechanisms within each tissue sample.

SOFTWARE AND DATABASE MANAGEMENT We have created a sophisticated
and highly complex bioinformatics interface and robust data management
infrastructure that combines the genomic data resulting from our production
process with the clinical information relating to the donor from which each
sample was derived, and houses these data in an environment that enables a
variety of analysis, mining, and visualization capabilities, as well as leaving
open the possibility to integrate these data with other data generated from
other sources.

MARKETING, SALES AND CUSTOMER SUPPORT We have developed, in
parallel with our genomic content, a global business development and customer
support infrastructure devoted to creating products from our genomic data
production and software development, marketing and selling these products to
our drug discovery and development customers—global pharmaceutical and
biotechnology companies, and eventually to diagnostic companies, contract
research organizations, and government and academic research institutions—
and supporting the ongoing needs of aur current customer hase to ensure our

products and services continue to satisfy their research requirements.
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PART I

ITEM 1: BUSINESS

Certain statements in this discussion are considered forward-looking statements within the meaning of Section 21E of the Securities
Exchange Act of 1934, as amended, including statements regarding our “expectations,” “beliefs,” “goals,” “hopes,” “strategies,” or the like.
Such statements are based on management’s current expectations and are subject to a number of factors and uncertainties that could cause
actual results to differ materially from those described in the forward-looking statements. We caution investors that there can be no
assurance that actual results or business conditions will not differ materially from those projected or suggested in such forward-looking
statements as a result of various factors, including, but not limited to, the risk factors discussed in this Annual Report on Form 10-K. We
expressly disclaim any obligation or undertaking to release publicly any updates or revisions to any forward-looking statements contained
herein to reflect any change in management’s expectations with regard thereto or any change in events, conditions, or circumstances on
which any such statements are based.

Unless the context requires otherwise, references in the following Annual Report on Form 10-K to “Gene Logic,” the “Company,”

<, 3 &

we,” “us,” and “our” refer to Gene Logic Inc.

GeneExpress® is a registered trademark of Gene Logic. BioExpress™, ToxExpress™ and Genesis: The Enterprise System™
(“Genesis” or “Genesis Enterprise System™) are trademarks of Gene Logic. GeneChip® is a registered trademark of Affymetrix, Inc.
Flow-thru Chip™ is a trademark of MetriGenix, Inc. Gencarta™ is a trademark of Compugen, Ltd.

OVERVIEW

We are a leading provider of integrated genomics-based information products, services and bioinformatics related to gene activity in
human disease and toxicity that enable global pharmaceutical and biotechnology companies to optimize the time, risk and cost of drug
discovery and development.

We were incorporated in Delaware in September 1994, and commenced operations in 1996. We initiated our first commercial
collaboration in 1997 and engaged in custom target discovery research programs with a variety of pharmaceutical companies. The skills
and competencies acquired in conducting such collaborations became the foundation for the commercial launch of our genomics-based
information product, GeneExpress, in late 1999.

GeneExpress is equal parts biocontent and bioinformatics. It comprises what we believe to be the world’s most comprehensive survey
of gene expression in human and animal tissues related to disease and drug toxicity. Gene expression is the degree to which genes in a cell
are switched on or off. GeneExpress consists of three primary products: i) BioExpress, which is a broad and in-depth survey of gene
expression in a wide range of normal and diseased human tissues, tissues from experimental animals and human and animal cell lines; ii)
ToxExpress, which is a collection of predictive models based on gene expression profiles and predictive modeling capabilities derived from
tissues and cell lines treated with drugs and other compounds associated with known classes of toxicity; and iif) Genesis Enterprise System,
which is a proprietary bioinformatics system that allows customers to combine and analyze detailed clinical histories and full genomic
information. The full range of GeneExpress products allows for detailed examination of the interrelationships between the human
genome, disease processes and mechanisms of toxicity.

Our GeneExpress and its line of products and related services can be used for a variety of applications. In basic research, GeneExpress
can enable the discovery and prioritization of gene targets. GeneExpress can also enable the priotitization of compounds based on their
potential for human toxicity. In clinical development, GeneExpress can be used to highlight which categories of patients might be best
suited for new and existing therapies. We plan to enrich the genomic content of GeneExpress through continued expansion of the tissue
samples representing a broad and in-depth survey of human biology, as well as possible future usage of the tissue samples using proteomic
and other emerging analytical technologies. We also plan to add to GeneExpress’ functionality through continued upgrades to and
development of proprietary software tools for analysis and integration of third-party software and content.

We collect tissues and cells as part of our Biorepository through a global network of clinical sites. We generate gene expression
information from these tissues and cells using the latest GeneChip microarray technology manufactured by Affymetrix. At year-end 2001,
GeneExpress contained gene expression profiles on nearly 12,000 tissue samples. By year-end 2003, we expect to have complete gene
expression profiles from over 30,000 tissue samples, over half of which will be tissues from a wide range of human organs, each with
comprehensive clinical information, representing a broad and in-depth survey of human gene expression across most major disease and/or
toxic indication.

Our research and development activities primarily relate to efforts to expand the content and bioinformatics capabilities of our genomic
information products. Research and development expenses for the years ended December 31, 2001, 2000 and 1999 were $59.0 million,
$44.0 million and $29.6 million, respectively.




Our strategy is to market and sell our GeneExpress product line to global pharmaceutical and biotechnology companies, and to expand
our market opportunities with academic research centers, contract research organizations, diagnostics manufacturers and other life sciences
organizations. Our goal is to provide genomic information products and services that address the need for improved efficiency in life
science research, drug discovery and drug development.

We provide our pharmaceutical and biotechnology customers access to our GeneExpress information products and services primarily
through annual subscription agreements. Typically, our customers enter into multi-year agreements to obtain non-exclusive access to
GeneExpress. These agreements often require us to provide specific content updates, consisting of clinical and related gene expression
data from samples representing specific normal and diseased states. During 2001, our revenue consisted primarily of these database
subscription fees. We also received revenue for the licensing of certain other GeneExpress products, as well as software and related
professional services.

GENEEXPRESS

GeneExpress is constructed of three interrelated databases: i) the biological descriptions of the tissue samples and the associated clinical
data (see “Core Competencies—DBiorepository”); ii) the quantitative measurements of gene expression from the analysis of tissue samples
using leading microarray technology (see “Core Competencies—Genomic Data Production”); and iii) the Gene Index, a collection of
publicly available annotation information for genes represented on the latest GeneChip microarray from Affymetrix, created through links
to over 15 regularly updated public genome databases (see “Core Competencies—Software and Database Management”). The three
databases can be manipulated using sophisticated proprietary software, GeneExpress Software System, which is included as part of a
GeneExpress product subscription and is used to manage these extensive clinical records and gene expression values.

GENEEXPRESS PRODUCT LINE

We currently offer a growing line of GeneExpress information products and services, which are sold to leading pharmaceutical and
biotechnology companies engaged in genomics-based drug discovery and development. Our GeneExpress product line consists of three
primary products: i) BioExpress, from which are derived DataSuites, CustomSuites, and GeneExpress Reports; ii) ToxExpress; and iii)
Genesis Enterprise System. Cutrent pricing over a three-year term agreement for full access to GeneExpress ranges between $13 and $16
million, depending upon a variety of factors, including timing and scope of installation.

Leveraging our strengths in the field of genomic information products, we recently announced the launch of a new product,
GeneExpress Gencarta, which will integrate a customized version of primarily human annotated genomic information from Compugen’s
Gencarta database with the gene expression information in GeneExpress. This product will be available as an add-on component to any
GeneExpress customer, and anticipated pricing over a three-year term agreement for access to GeneExpress Gencarta is expected to range
between $0.75 and $1.0 mullion, depending upon a variety of factors, including timing and scope of installation.

BroEXPRESS

BioExpress is the largest information subset within GeneExpress, and comprises a broad gene expression survey of normal and
diseased human tissues and a limited number of studies of pharmaceutically relevant disease models. BioExpress presently covers more
than 400 clinical indications. The primary areas of focus include extensive discase-staged tissue samples representing oncology,
cardiovascular, central nervous system and inflammatory diseases, and developmental biology, as well as normal samples. BioExpress
provides researchers with gene expression information to study normal physiology, elucidate the mechanisms of disease, identify disease-
associated pathways and select and prioritize potential drug targets. Customers use BioExpress to identify and prioritize novel disease-
associated gene targets. Current pricing over a three-year term agreement for access to BioExpress ranges between $9 and $13 million,
depending upon a variety of factors, including timing and scope of installation.

DATASUITES

DataSuites are disease/indication-specific subsets derived from BioExpress, which provides comprehensive gene expression, genetic
and clinical information from a focused range of normal and diseased tissue samples. Current DataSuites that are commercially available
include the GeneExpress Oncology DataSuite, the GeneExpress Human Atlas DataSuite, the GeneExpress Cardiovascular DataSuite, and
the GeneExpress Central Nervous System DataSuite. We continue to assess opportunities to launch additional DataSuite products as we
progress with our disease-focused content strategy, which is based on indications of significant market interest. Current pricing over a
three-year term agreement for access to the available DataSuites ranges between $2.5 and $4.5 million, depending upon a vatiety of factors,
including timing and scope of installation.

CUSTOMSUITES

CustomSuites, which combine proprietary information from BioExpress and customers’ proprietary information generated either in-
house or by us, are customized DataSuites tailored to the specific research interests of our customers who wish to define their own
content. In certain instances, we process our customers’ proprietary samples and integrate that data into additional customized products.
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Current pricing over a three-year term agreement for access to a CustomSuite product ranges between $2.5 and $6.5 million, depending
upon a variety of factors, including timing and scope of installation.

GENEEXPRESS REPORTS

GeneExpress Reports consist of standardized single-gene information analyses based on gene expression information in BioExpress.
Current pricing for access to GeneExpress Reports is on a pay-per-view basis, and ranges between $25,000 and $0.3 million, depending on
the number of genes and tissue samples surveyed.

TOXEXPRESS

ToxExpress is comprised of gene expression profiles of tissues and cells treated with drugs and other compounds associated with
known classes of toxicity that affect specific organs. These toxicity profiles are based on focused toxicology surveys, which include time-
course, dose and other study information derived primarily from rat liver tissue following 7 vive treatment with marketed pharmaceuticals
known to be toxic. Additional toxicology studies have been initiated based on other organ models and cell types, including kidney, heart
and bone marrow. The resulting toxicology profile information is correlated with studies on primary human and rat cells to establish 7z
vitro models of human toxicity. These toxicity profiles and the resulting predictive modeling capabilities can be used as references against
which the gene expression profiles induced by new drug leads can be compared in order to assess their toxic potentials. Detection of
potential toxicity early in the drug discovery and development process allows drug developers to reject compounds having unacceptable
toxicity profiles before incurring the substantial expenses of traditional animal toxicology studies and clinical trial failures. We have also
seen cases that indicate gene expression profiles using animal models may predict human toxicity where traditional animal toxicity
screening failed to reveal such effects. Customers use ToxExpress and its predictive models as a primary tool to assess potential single- or
multi-organ toxicity of proprietaty lead compounds using gene expression information. Current pricing over a three-year term agreement
for access to ToxExpress ranges between $4.5 and $7.5 million, depending upon a variety of factors, including timing and scope of
installation.

GENESIS ENTERPRISE SYSTEM AND ASSOCIATED PROFESSIONAL SERVICES

Based on our experience in database integration, we developed the Genesis Enterprise System, a collection of software and professional
services. This software system is designed to enable customers to manage their own in-house, proprietary gene expression and sample
information in a manner similar to that used to manage the genomic and clinical informaton in GeneExpress. Genesis is “content-ready,”
stand-alone software and a complete enterprise-wide integration solution. We offer customers integration setvices in conjunction with the
Genesis, to assist customers with more complex implementations. Current pricing for a license to Genesis and access to its associated
professional services could range between $0.3 to over $1 million, depending upon which elements of the system and services are
purchased.

OTHER PRODUCTS AND SERVICES

As a leading provider of genomic information, from time to time we provide certain customers customized products based on
proprietary genomic services. In the past, we have developed custom gene expression databases, under research collaboration agreements,
tailored to customers’ specific research interests and based on the analysis of proprietary samples provided to us by these customers.
Pricing for such projects have been determined on a case-by-case basis, and typically include annual access fees, research support and
milestone payments.

Going forward, we do not expect to emphasize these types of projects, as they are not part of our core genomic information products
focus.




CUSTOMERS

As of March 18, 2002, we have announced agreements to sell our genomics information products and services to the following
customers:

Other

Bio- Tox- Custom- GeneExpress Products &
Customer Express Express DataSuite Suite Genesis Reports Services
Artesian Therapeutics X
AstraZeneca® X X
Athersys X
Avalon® X X
Aventis
Biogen
Boehringer Ingelheim(®
Daiichi
DGI X
Genaissance®
Genentech
GlaxoSmithKline
IDEC
Japan Tobacco®
LG Chemical
Morphochem
Neuralstem® X
NV Organon
Pfizer
Procter & Gamble®-® X
Proteologics X
Psychiatric Genomics X
PsychoGenics X
Sankyo®
Sumitomo®
UCB®
Vertex®@
Wyeth®
ZYCOS
Unnamed biopharma®
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(1) Subscribes to a full GeneExpress product.
(2) Not expected to generate future revenue.
(3) Represented 10% or more of revenue in 2001.

CoRE COMPETENCIES

The construction of our GeneExpress line of products and services is based on specific core competencies. These competencies
include: i) the Biorepository—the acquisition and proper handling of human and animal tissue samples and associated clinical information
used for genomic analysis; i) genomic data production—the analysis of each sample using leading microarray technologies on an industrial
scale; iti) software and database development—the sophisticated bioinformatics interface and data management backbone for analysis,
visualization and management of the resulting genomic information; and iv) marketing, sales and customer support.

BIOREPOSITORY

We have spent the last four years methodically building what we believe to be one of the world’s most comprehensive collection of
diseased and normal surgical tssue samples, obtained through a network of contracted collaborations with U.S. and European institutions
and clinical centers. These samples span more than 400 separate clinical disease indications with focused collection programs in the critical
areas of oncology, cardiovascular, central nervous system and inflammatory diseases and developmental biology. Each tssue sample is
acquired under an Institutional Review Board-approved protocol designed to ensure patient confidentiality and full clinical record
disclosure. The Biotrepository collection process is managed by our senior sciendfic directors, who work closely with out customets to
create a prioritized plan for acquiring and processing relevant normal and diseased tissue samples.

The foundation of our Biorepository is the network of clinical centers, teaching hospitals, academic medical centers, and commercial
providers from which we get the tissue samples. Each clinical center has typically required up to one year to establish a steady inflow of
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tissue samples and clinical data records that meet ocur stringent quality specificadons. In general, we provide each institution and its
researchers with a combination of funding for training, research, and infrastructure, as well as access to the data specific to their samples.
This blend of compensation and limited access to the sample data has proven to be both a unique and substantial motivator for our clinical
centers to provide us with samples that meet our rigorous quality requirements. We will pursue additional relationships with clinical
centers wotldwide as we continue to populate GeneExpress with gene expression information from tissue samples representing disease
indications that meet the research demands of our pharmaceutical and biotechnology customers.

At each center within our network, we have established Institutional Review Board-approved protocols, including patient informed
consents, to ensute proper acquisition of the tissues and relevant clinical information. Tissues are obtained according to specific handling
protocols that preserve their quality. The samples are shipped to our headquarters together with pathology data extracted from patient
records. To obtain normal and treated experimental animal tissues, we have contracted with a clinical research organization that specializes
in this area. At our facilities, samples undergo rigorous quality control and examination by board-certified pathologists. The process
includes taking photomicrographs of histologically stained thin sections prepared from each sample, which can be viewed using
GeneExpress.

At December 31, 2001, the Biorepository included nearly 12,000 samples fully incorporated into the content of GeneExpress, as well as
an additional several thousand samples in inventory and not yet processed. We anticipate doubling the number of samples in GeneExpress
by year-end 2002.

GENOMIC DATA PRODUCTION

We measure gene expression levels in each human and animal tissue sample from the Biorepository using the latest GeneChip
microarray technology from Affymetrix. Our genomic data production is an industrial scale application of Affymetrix’s technology and all
related reagents, instrumentation and software. Production activities take place in a newly opened, 57,000 squate foot facility, of which we
currently occupy 33,000 square feet. A substantial portion of our production environment is dependent on the use of Affymetrix products,
instrumentation and software and related reagents. We recently negotiated a new agreement with Affymetrix to obtain GeneChip
microarrays and instrumentation and software, for our use in generating gene expression information, on a nonexclusive basis, with volume
discounted prices, quality specifications and terms relating to the timing of deliveries. We agreed to purchase a minimum of $15.1 million
in products and services from Affymetrix in 2002. We also agreed to pay Affymetrix a royalty in future years upon meeting certain
GeneExpress subscription revenue thresholds. This latest agreement will expire January 1, 2004, but may be extended up to two additional
years. If Affymetrix licenses their microarray technology to others, including our competitors, for similar uses, our business may suffer.
The agreement limits us from buying microarrays from third parties if Affymetrix provides reasonable evidence that those third party
microarrays materially infringe Affymetrix’s intellectual property rights.

Our genomic data production process entails high-throughput analysis of human tissue samples and cell lines to identify each sample’s
individual gene expression profile. The expression levels of the genes in each sample are measured using the latest GeneChip microarrays
from Affymetrix. Labeled cRNA sequences from a tissue sample bind to complementary DNA sequences on the GeneChip microarray
and are detected using a fluorescent stain. The positions of the fluorescent spots on the chip are detected and then identified as to which
genes were expressed in the sample. The intensity of the fluorescent spot represents a precise, quantitative measure of the level of gene
expression. Each measure is permanently stored and can be compared across every other sample that has been analyzed in a similar
manner within GeneExpress.

Once each sample has been analyzed, any remaining residual sample, or biomolecule, is stored for possible reuse. For example, we are
using stored residual material to upgrade the content of BioExpress utilizing the most recent GeneChip microarrays from Affymetrix. We
anticipate completion of this upgrade by mid-year 2002.

SOFTWARE AND DATABASE MANAGEMENT

We possess extensive software development expertise and experience in data management and analysis of high volumes of
heterogeneous genomic data. The data production process generates very large amounts of gene exptession data, including comprehensive
sample data and gene annotations, which must be managed efficiently and integrated with data from customers’ in-house research efforts,
as well as a growing number of public domain genomic and medical database sources. These various databases often have different,
incompatible structures. Our proprietary data management and analysis software is designed to manage, integrate, explore and query such
disparate data sets as if they were part of a single database.

The bioinformatics structure of GeneExpress is a highly sophisticated system architecture based on an enterprise-wide information
warehouse. This warehouse is comprised of three interrelated databases: i) the biological descriptions of the tissue samples and the
associated clinical data; ii) quantitative measurements of gene expression in the samples; and iii) the Gene Index. These three interrelated
databases are hosted on the latest Oracle server technology. Runmning on top of the information warehouse, through 2 structure known as
the “analysis engine,” is a layer of software analysis tools.

Our GeneExpress information products are delivered to customers on turnkey servers with client software available for rapid
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installation on local client desktops. These servers may reside at customer sites or can be accessed remotely via a secure virtual private
network from our main computer facility. We have also developed high performance GeneExpress data cloning tools to support the
regular content updates and periodic software upgrades for each of our customers.

Data mining within GeneExpress is performed using a proprietary high-performance analysis engine. This engine provides rapid access
to gene expression information organized as a collection of two dimensional main-memory matrices. Various matrices cover different
types of gene expression and other genomic information, where these data are classified by species, GeneChip version, or methods used to
generate raw gene expression data. Since these individual methods of data generation ate generally imprecise, we have developed an
infrastructure that can support multiple methods to ensure cross-method validation, as well as refined analysis results. Exploraton and
analysis of Genelixpress content is cartied out by our GeneExpress Explorer client-user interface. We developed our proprietary
GeneExpress Software System using the Java programming environment and 2 CORBA mechanism for communication in a three-tier
architecture, which comprises a database server, analysis engine and query processor middle-ware and user interface client.

We periodically update our GeneExpress Software System to improve its performance, analytical power and usability. We continue to
conduct research and development on refining the software to allow the integration and cross analysis of additional types of genomic data,
including sequence, proteomic and other complementary genomic data sets.

SALES, MARKETING AND CUSTOMER SUPPORT

We are currently marketing and selling GeneExpress products and services directly to our pharmaceutical and biotechnology customers
in North America, Western Europe, and portions of Asia. We will continue to seek opportunities to sell complementary, third-party
products and technologies through distribution agreements, for use in downstream applications. Moreover, we plan to market our
genomic information products and services to diagnostic companies, contract research organizations, and academic and governmental
research groups.

We generally market our genomic information products and services directly. However, in September 2000, we entered into a
nonexclusive distribution agreement with Amersham Biosciences K.K. (“ABKK”) (formerly Amersham Pharmacia Biotech K.K.) to sell
and market, our GeneExpress line of products and services in Japan. Under this agreement, ABKK receives a percentage of revenue that
results from sales in Japan.

METRIGENIX

In July 2001, we completed the transfer of our patented Flow-thru Chip technology into a subsidiary, MetriGenix, which is focused on
further developing and commercializing the technology in the form of a multigene screening tool for pharmaceutical, biotechnology and
other life science customers. We contributed to MetriGenix relevant intellectual property associated with the Flow-thru Chip and we
transferred certain employees, in exchange for 54% of the then outstanding voting stock, represented by Class A Common Stock. A group
of investors paid $15 million in cash in exchange for the then remaining voting stock, represented by Seties A Preferred Stock. We and the
investors entered into a stockholders’ agreement, which contains certain restrictions on transfer of MetriGenix stock and provisions
regarding certain matters of corporate governance. We sublease space to MetriGenix and provide various administrative, marketing and
other services for monthly fees, which are intended to reimburse us for our costs, and we have entered into a GeneExpress subscription
with MettiGenix, for which we recorded no revenue in 2001.

COMPETITION

Competition among entities working in and generating products derived from genomic information is intense. A number of
companies, institutions and government-financed entities are engaged in gene sequencing, gene discovery, gene expression analysis,
toxicogenomics, proteomics and other genomic services. Many of these companies, institutions and entities have greater financial and
human resources than we do. In addition, we are awate that certain entities are using, or have announced their intention to use, a variety of
analysis methodologies, including the use of microarrays, to develop and market to pharmaceutical and biotechnology companies databases
containing gene sequence, gene expression, genetic variation or other genomic information. We expect that additional compettors may
attempt to establish databases containing these types of genomic information in the future.

We are aware that a number of companies and institutions are pursuing efforts to amass repositories of human clinical samples, cell
lines, and animal models. We face competition from these and other entities in gaining access to cells, tissues and nucleic acid samples
used in building our genomic information products.

Extensive research efforts and rapid technological progress characterize the current genomics industry. New developments are
expected to continue and discoveries by others could render our genomic information products and services noncompetitive. In addition,
significant levels of research in drug discovery and development occur in universities and other non-profit research institutions. These
entities have become increasingly active in seeking patent protection and licensing revenue for their research results. These entities also
compete with us in recruiting talented scientists, software developers, bioinformaticists and others with key managerial experience.




We believe there are no genomic information products comparable to GeneExpress, in terms of the scope and scale of human biology
covered. However, there are a wide variety of tools and technologies available for drug discovery and development research. We compete
for general research dollars with the companies that provide these tools and technologies.

Future competition will come from existing competitors, as well as other entities seeking to develop new technologies for drug
discovery and development based on genomics, proteomics, bioinformatics and other related technologies. Certain pharmaceutical and
biotechnology companies have significant need for genomic information and may choose to develop or acquire competing technologies to
meet their needs. Our agreement with Affymetrix provides us with nonexclusive access to GeneChip microatrays for use in building
GeneExpress. Our competitors could obtain licenses to use GeneChip technology or other technologies to develop their own genomic
information products for internal use or may use such technologies to develop competitive products and services.

Genomic technologies have undergone and are expected to continue to undergo rapid and significant change. Our future success will
depend in large part on maintaining a competitive technological advantage in terms of using the latest and most widely accepted genomic
technologies. Rapid technological development may result in products or technologies becoming obsolete before the expenses incurred in
their development can be recovered. Our products could be made obsolete by less expensive or more effective drug discovery and
development technologies and products, including technologies unrelated to genomics.

INTELLECTUAL PROPERTY

We seek United States and international patent protection for major components of our technology platform, including elements of our
genomics and bioinformatics technologies. We also rely on trade secret protection for certain of our confidential and proprietary
information, and we use license agreements both to access external technologies and assets and to convey certain intellectual property
rights to others. Our commercial success is dependent in part on our ability to continue to obtain commercially valuable patent claims and
to protect our patents, trade secrets, trademarks and other intellectual property.

As of December 31, 2001, we had exclusive rights to 40 issued patents, 20 of which are United States patents, and 164 patent
applications, 108 of which are United States patent applications or United States provisional patent applications, relating to our
technologies. We have exclusive rights to United States patents covering key aspects of gene expression analysis.

The patent positions of pharmaceutical, biopharmaceutical and biotechnology companies, including our own patent position, are
generally uncertain and involve complex legal and factual questions. Our business could be hurt by any of the following;

e the pending patent applications that we own or to which we have exclusive rights may not result in issued patents;
e  the claims of any patents which are issued may not provide meaningful protection;
e  we may not be successful in developing additional proprietary technologies that are patentable;

e  patents licensed or issued to us or our customers may not provide a basis for commercially viable products or provide us with any
competitive advantages, and they may be challenged by third parties; and

® others may have patents that relate to our technology or business, which we might infringe and be unable to license on
appropriate terms.

In addition, patent law relating to the scope of claims in the technology fields in which we operate is still evolving. For example, the
U.S. Patent and Trademark Office has issued guidelines relating to the patentability of inventions, including biotechnology inventions, that
have not been conclusively evaluated by the courts and that might limit the scope of available patent protection. The degree of future
protection for our proprietary rights, therefore, is uncertain. Furthermore, others may independently develop similar or alternative
technologies, duplicate any of our technologies, and if patents are licensed or issued to us, design around the patented technologies licensed
to or developed by us. In addition, we could incur substantial costs in litigation if we are required to defend ourselves in patent suits
brought by third parties or if we initiate such suits.

We are aware of a number of United States patents and patent applications and related foreign patents and patent applicatons owned
by third parties relating to the analysis of gene expression or the manufacture or use of DNA microarrays. These other technologies may
provide third parties with competitive advantages over us and may hurt our business. In addition, some third party patent applications
contain broad claims, and it is not possible to determine whether or not such claims will be narrowed during prosecution and/or will be
allowed and issued as patents, even if such claims appear to cover prior art or have other defects. An owner or licensee of a patent in the
field may threaten or file an infringement action and we may or may not prevail in any such action. The cost of defending an infringement
action may be substantial, which could significantly increase our expenses and increase our losses. Furthermore, required licenses may not
be made available on commercially viable terms, if at all. Failure to obtain any required license could prevent us from utlizing or
commercializing one or more of our genomic information products.




We have applied, and intend to file additional applications, for patent protection for methods relating to gene expression, for the
disease-specific and toxin-induced patterns of gene expression that we identify and for the individual disease genes and targets we discover.
Such patents may include claims relating to novel genes and gene fragments and to novel uses for known genes or gene fragments
identified through our discovery programs, as well as to related business methods, databases and software tools. However, we may not be
able to obtain commercially meaningful patent protection for our discoveries; even if patents are issued, the scope of the coverage or
protection they would afford is uncertain, Failure to secure such meaningful patent protection would endanger our competitive position.

Several commercial and academic entities are attempting to identify and patent gene fragments and full-length genes, the functions of
which have not been characterized, as well as fully characterized genes. There is substantial uncertainty regarding possible patent
protection for gene fragments or genes without a well-characterized biological function or correlation with specific diseases. To the extent
any patents issue to other parties on such partial or full-length genes, the risk increases that our potential products and processes and those
of our customers may give tise to claims of patent infringement. The public availability of partial or full sequence information or the
existence of patent applications related thereto, even if not accompanied by relevant function or disease association, ptior to the time we
apply for patent protection on a corresponding gene could hinder our ability to obtain patent protection with respect to such gene or to the
related expression pattetns or its use in associated microarray technologies. Furthermore, others may have filed, and in the future are likely
to file, patent applications covering genes, gene products or expression profiles that are similar, or identical to, any for which we may seek
patent protection. These patent applications may have priority over patent applications filed by us. Any legal action against us or our
customers claiming damages and seeking to enjoin our commercial activities relating to the affected products and processes could, in
addition to subjecting us to potential liability for damages, require us and our customers to obtain a license in order to continue to
manufacture or market the affected products and processes. Neither we nor our customers may prevail in any such action and any license
required under any patent may not be available on commercially acceptable terms, if at all. There is significant litigation in the
pharmaceutical and biotechnology industries regarding patent and other intellectual property rights. If we become involved in such
litigation, it could consume a substantial portion of our managerial and financial resources and negatively impact our financial results.

The term of United States patents filed on or after June 8, 1995 commences on the date of issuance and terminates 20 years from the
eatliest effective filing date of the application. For United States patents filed before that date, the term is 17 years from the date of
issuance. Because the time from filing to issuance of biotechnology patent applications is often more than three years, a term that begins at
the effective date of filing may result in a shorter period of patent protection, which may harm our competitive position, notwithstanding
the possibility of term extension in certain circumstances.

With respect to proprietary know-how that is not patentable and for products and processes for which patents are difficult to enforce,
we rely on trade secret protection and confidentiality agreements to protect our interests. We believe that several elements of our genomic
information products involve proprietaty know-how, technology or data that are not covered by patents or patent applications. In
addition, we have developed a proprietary index of gene and gene fragment sequences which we update on an ongoing basis. Some of
these data will be the subject of patent applications, whereas other data will be maintained as proptietary trade secret information, We have
taken secutity measures to protect our proprietary know-how and technologies and confidential data and continue to explore further
methods of protection. While we require all employees, consultants and customers to enter into confidentiality agreements, we cannot be
certain that proprietary information will not be disclosed, that others will not independently develop substantially equivalent proprietary
information and techniques or otherwise gain access to our trade secrets, or that we can meaningfully protect our trade secrets. In the case
of arrangements with our customers that require the sharing of data, ouvr policy is to make available to our customers only such data as. is
relevant to our agreements with such customers, under controlled circumstances, only during the contractual term of those agreements,
and subject to a duty of confidentiality on the part of our customers. However, such measures may not adequately protect our data. Any
material leak of confidential data into the public domain or to third parties may cause our business, financial condition and results of
operations to be harmed.

We are a party to various license agreements that give us rights to use technologies and biological materials in our research and
development processes. We may not be able to maintain such rights on commercially reasonable terms, if at all. Failure by us to maintain
such rights could harm our business.

GOVERNMENT REGULATION

REGULATION OF USE OF HUMAN TISSUE

Our access to and use of human or other tissue samples in the expansion of our GeneExptess products and services may become
subject to government regulation, both in the United States and abroad. U.S. and foreign government agencies may also impose restrictions
on the use of data derived from human or othet tissue samples. The United States Food and Drug Administraton (FDA) has issued final
and proposed regulations governing human cellular and tissue-based products. None of these regulations are currently effective, and it is
uncertain whether or how they will impact our operations. If our access to or use of human tissue samples, or our customers' use of data
derived from such samples is restricted, our business will suffer.




ENVIRONMENTAL REGULATION

Our research and development activities in some cases involve the controlled use of biological and other hazardous materials, chemic als
and various radioactive materials. We are subject to federal, state and local laws and regulations governing the use, storage, handling and
disposal of such materials and certain waste products. The risk of accidental contamination or injury from these materials cannot be
eliminated. In the event of an accident, we could be held liable for any damages that result, and any liability could exceed our resources.
Other than such laws and regulations governing the generation, use and disposal of hazardous materials and wastes, and limiting workplace
exposures to these materials, we do not believe our current and proposed activities are subject to any specific government regulation other
than regulations affecting the operations of companies generally.

HumaN RESOURCES

As of March 1, 2002, Gene Logic employed 272 individuals full-time, of whom 71 were engaged in genomic data production, 37 were
engaged in content development, 88 were engaged in software and database development, 38 were engaged in marketin g, sales, deployment
and customer support, and 38 were engaged in finance, general administration and computer information systems. Of our employees, 77
have doctoral degrees and 72 hold other advanced degrees. A significant number of our management and professional employees have had
prior experience with pharmaceutical, biotechnology, diagnostic or medical products, computer software or electronics companies. None
of our employees is covered by collective bargaining agreements, and management considers relations with its employees to be good.

EXECUTIVE OFFICERS

The names and ages of all executive officers as of March 1, 2002 and their respective positions and offices with us are set forth below.

Name Age Position

Mark D. Gessler 40 Chairman, Chief Executive Officer and President
Philip L. Rohrer, Jr. 45 Chief Financial Officer

Y. Douglas Dolginow, M.D. 47 Senior Vice President, Pharmacogenomics

Victor M. Markowitz, D.Sc. 48 Senior Vice President and Chief Information Officer
David S. Mutray 55 Senior Vice President, Matketing and Sales

Mark D. Gessler has served as our Chairman of the Board of Directors since April 2001, as our Chief Executive Officer since June
2000 and as our President since January 1999. Mr. Gessler served as our Chief Operating Officer from January 1999 until June 2000.
From prior to March 1997 to October 1999, Mr. Gessler served as our Chief Financial Officer. From prior to March 1997 to January
1999, Mr. Gessler served as our Senior Vice President, Corporate Development. Mr. Gessler holds an MBA from the University of
Tennessee.

Philip L. Rohrer, Jr. has served as our Chief Financial Officer since October 1999. Since prior to March 1997 until August 1999, Mr.
Rohrer served as Chief Financial Officer of BioWhittaker Inc., a biotechnology supply company. Prior thereto, he held other operations
positions with that company. Mr. Rohrer holds an A.B. in biology from Hood College and an M.S.M. from Frostburg State University.

Y. Douglas Dolginow, M.D. has served as our Senior Vice President, Pharmacogenomics since September 1998. Prior to September
1998, Dr. Dolginow served as President, Chief Operating Officer and as a director of Oncormed, Inc., a gene therapy biotechnology
company. Prior thereto, Dr. Dolginow served as medical director for several clinical laboratories, and since prior to March 1997, he has
been an active member of the Clinical Faculty at the University of California, San Francisco. Dr. Dolginow received a M.D. from the
University of Kansas.

Victor M. Markowitz, D.Sc. has served as our Senior Vice President and Chief Information Officer since March 2000. He was Senior
Vice President, Data Management Systems from September 1998 to March 2000 and Vice President, Data Management Systems from
September 1997 to September 1998. Prior thereto, Dr. Markowitz was a staff scientist at Lawrence Berkeley National Laboratory and
project leader in the laboratory's Data Management Research and Development Group. Dr. Markowitz received his M.Sc. and D.Sc.
degrees in computer science from Technion, the Israel Institute of Technology.

David S. Murray has served as our Senior Vice President, Marketing and Sales, since January 2000. From prior to March 1997 to
January 2000, Mr. Murray held various positions with Dun & Bradstreet Corporation, a business information providet, including Executive
Vice President, U.S. Prior thereto, Mr. Mutray served in various executive capacities in the worldwide operations for that company.
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RISK FACTORS

This Annual Report on Form 10-K contains certain forward-looking statements within the meaning of section 21E of the Securities
and Exchange Commission Act of 1934, as amended. Forward-looking statements are based on management's current expectations and
are therefore subject to certain risks and uncertainties. Certain risks, including but not limited to, the following could seriously harm the
Company's business, financial condition or results of operations. As a result, these risks could cause the decline of the trading price of the
Company's common stock and the reader should carefully consider the risks described below before making an investment decision. The
risks described below, however, are not the only ones that the Company faces. The reader should also refer to the other information set
forth in this Annual Report on Form 10-K, including the Company's financial statements and the related notes, and to information
presented elsewhere by management.

TOo GENERATE SIGNIFICANT REVENUE, WE MUST RETAIN EXISTING AND OBTAIN ADDITIONAL CUSTOMERS TO OUR
GENEEXPRESS PRODUCTS AND SERVICES.

Our strategy depends on entering into additional agreements to provide genomic information products and services to pharmaceutical,
biotechnology and other companies, including our existing customers. Each of the agreements that we have with our customers is for a
specific term, and some of these agreements are terminable without penalty by our customers prior to expiration. If any agreements are
terminated or expire and are not renewed or existing customers fail to buy additional products, or if we fail to enter into agreements with
new customers, our business could suffer.

OUR SALES CYCLE IS LENGTHY AND WE MAY SPEND CONSIDERABLE RESOURCES ON UNSUCCESSFUL SALES EFFORTS OR MAY
NOT BE ABLE TO COMPLETE DEALS ON THE SCHEDULE WE ANTICIPATE.

Our ability to obtain new customers, retain existing customers through subscription and/or license renewal, and sell additional products
to existing customers depends upon our current and potential customers' belief that our products can help accelerate their drug discovery
and development efforts. Our sales cycle is typically lengthy because we need to educate our existing and potential customers and sell the
benefits of our products to a variety of constituencies within such companies. In addition, each agreement involves the negotiation of
unique terms. We may expend substantal effort with no assurance that an agreement will result. Actual and proposed consolidations of
pharmaceutical and biotechnology companies have affected, and may in the future affect, the timing and progress of our sales efforts.
Similatly, aggregate budgetary resources, as well as budgetary timing cycles, of pharmaceutical and biotechnology companies can also affect
the timing and progress of our sales efforts.

OUR GENOMIC INFORMATION PRODUCTS AND SERVICES ARE NEW AND AS YET UNPROVEN.

Our genomic information products and services involve new and unproven apptroaches. They are based on the assumption that
information about gene expression and gene sequences may help scientists better understand complex disease processes and drug toxicity.
There is limited understanding of the roles of genes in human biology and pathology. Few therapeutic products based on gene discoveries
have been developed and commercialized. Our information products may not enable our customers to identify drug targets and drug
leads. Even if they are successful in identifying drug targets and drug leads based on their discoveries made using our genomic information
products, our customers may not be able to discover or develop commercially viable products. We are not aware if any of our customers
have developed or commercialized any therapeutic or diagnostic products based on our information products. If our pharmaceutical and
biotechnology customers fail to find genomic information useful, our current and potential customers may lose confidence in our
Company and our business may suffer as a result.

WE RELY ON GENECHIP MICROARRAYS SUPPLIED BY AFFYMETRIX TO BUILD QOUR GENEEXPRESS LINE OF GENOMIC
INFORMATION PRODUCTS.

Our ability to continue to build and update our GeneExpress line of products will depend in part on the ability of Affymetrix to supply
adequate quantities of high quality GeneChip microarrays, which are widely accepted as the state-of-the-art in microarray technology.
Affymetrix provides us with GeneChip microarrays under an agreement that expires on January 1, 2004, but which we have the option to
extend for up to one additional two-year term. This agreement provides us with nonexclusive access to GeneChip microarrays and
instrumentation and software. If Affymetrix licenses GeneChip microarrays to others, including our competitors, for similar uses, our
business may suffer. The agreement also prohibits us from buying microarrays from third parties if Affymetrix provides teasonable
evidence that those third party microarrays materially infringe Affymetrix’s intellectual property rights. If Affymetrix is unable or unwilling
to supply us with GeneChip microarrays, or if such microarrays are not available, or if the microarrays are defective, we will need to obtain
access to alternative microarray technologies. Alternative microarray technologies may not be available to us, or may only be available to us
on unfavorable terms. Restricted or curtailed access to GeneChip microarrays could cause our business to suffer by delaying or increasing
the cost of expansion of our GeneExpress line of products and by causing us to be delayed or unable to meet our content update
obligations under our GeneExpress agreements.
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WE HAVE A HISTORY OF OPERATING LOSSES WHICH ARE LIKELY TO CONTINUE FOR SOME TIME.

We have incutred operating losses in each year since our inception. At December 31, 2001, we had accumulated operating losses of
$135.3 million. Our losses to date have resulted principally from costs incurred in the development of our genomic information products
and services, the $35.2 million non-recurring charge incurred in connection with our acquisition of Oncormed in 1998 and selling, general
and administrative costs associated with operations. We commenced development of GeneExpress in early 1999 and released the first
commetcial version in late 1999. As of March 2002, we have pharmaceutical and biotechnology customers worldwide utlizing our
GeneExpress products and services and expect to dedicate substantially all of our resources for the foreseeable future to further developing
and maintaining its genomic content and bioinformatics capabilities. While we recognize revenue from our genomic information products
and services, we also expect to incur additional losses in the future and cannot assure we will achieve profitability.

Ir QOUR ACCESS TO NECESSARY TISSUE SAMPLES, INFORMATION OR LICENSED TECHNOLOGIES IS RESTRICTED, WE WILL NOT
BE ABLE T0 CONTINUE TC DEVELOP QUR BUSINESS.

To continue to build our genomic information products and services, we need access to normal and diseased human and animal tissue
samples, other biological materials and related clinical and other information. We compete with many other companies for these materials
and information. We may not be able to obtain, or maintain access to, these materials and information on acceptable terms, if at all. In
addition, government regulation in the United States and foreign countries could result in restricted access to, or use of, human and other
tissue samples. If we lose access to sufficient numbers or sources of tissue samples, or if tighter restrictions are imposed on our use of the
information generated from tissue samples, our business will suffer.

Some of our genomics and bioinformatics technologies have been acquired or licensed from third patties, and we expect to acquire or
license additional technologies from third parties. Our product development activities could suffer if we are not able to establish access to
new or additional technologies that we believe are important to our business.

ANY INADEQUACY IN THE PROTECTION OF OUR INTELLECTUAL PROPERTY COULD HURT OQUR BUSINESS.

Our success will depend in part on our ability to obtain commercially valuable patent claims and to protect our intellectual property.
Our patent position is generally uncertain and involves complex legal and factual questions. Legal standards relating to the validity and
scope of claims in our technology field are still evolving. Therefore, the degree of future protection for our proprietary rights is uncertain.
The risks and uncertainties that we face with respect to our patents and other proprietary rights include the following:

® the pending patent applications we have filed, or to which we have exclusive rights, may not result in issued patents or may take
longer than we expect to result in issued patents;

e  the claims of any patents which ate issued may not provide commetcially meaningful protection;
©  we may not be able to develop additional proprietary technologies that are patentable;

the patents licensed or issued to us may not provide a competitive advantage;

other companies may challenge patents licensed or issued to us;

patents issued to other companies may restrict our ability to do business;

other companies may independently develop similar or alternative technologies or replicate our technologies; and

® @ © e

other companies may design around technologies we have licensed and/or patented.

We may apply for patent protection for methods relating to gene expression and disease-specific patterns of gene expression that we
identify, as well as individual disease genes and targets that we discover. These patent applications may include claims relating to novel
genes and gene fragments and to novel uses for known genes or gene fragments identified from the use of our genomic information
products. We may not be able to obtain meaningful patent protection for our discoveries. Even if patents are issued, their scope of
coverage or protection may be uncertain.

We also rely on trade secret protection and confidentiality agreements to protect our interests in proprietary know-how and technology
that are not patentable or for which patents are difficult to enforce. We have taken secutity measures to protect our proprietary know-how
and confidential data and continue to explore further methods of protection. While we require all employees, consultants and customers to
enter into confidentiality agreements, we cannot be certain that we will be able to meaningfully protect our trade secrets. Any material leak
of confidential data into the public domain, or to third parties, could cause our business, financial condition and results of operations to
suffer. It may be necessary for us to initiate litigation to protect and enforce our intellectual property rights. Such litigation may involve
substantial costs, diversion of management’s time and attention from the operations of our business and the risk of an adverse outcome.

WE MAY IN THE FUTURE BE SUBJECT TO LITIGATION AND PATENT INFRINGEMENT CLAIMS.
The technologies that we use to develop our products, and those that we incorporate in our products, may be subject to claims that

they infringe the patents or proprietary rights of others. In particular, we are aware of a number of patents and patent applications owned
by others relating to individual genes and to the analysis of gene expression or the manufacture and use of microarrays. The risk of
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additional litigation will increase as the genomics, biotechnology and software industries expand, more patents are issued and other
companies engage in other genomic-related businesses. Therefore, we could receive notices from third parties alleging patent infringement.

Litigation thus may be necessary to:

o  assert claims of infringement;

e enforce our patents;

e  protect our trade secrets or know-how; or

©  determine the enforceability, scope and validity of the proprietary rights of others.

We could incur substantial litigation costs to defend outselves in patent suits brought by other companies or to initiate such suits.
Substantial litigation costs and potential adverse outcomes could cause out business, financial condition and results of operations to suffer.
In addition, litigation could cause disruption in our business activities and divert management's time and attention from the operation of
our business.

INTERNATIONAL PATENT PROTECTION IS UNCERTAIN.

Patent law outside the United States is uncertain and is cutrently undergoing review and revision in many countries. Further, the laws
of some foreign countries may not protect our intellectual property rights to the same extent as U.S. laws. We may participate in
opposition proceedings to determine the validity of our or our competitors' foreign patents, which could result in substantial costs and
diversion of our efforts and may not be successful in limiting the patent scope of competitors. Finally, some of our patent protection in
the United States is not available to us in foreign countries under the laws of those countries.

QUR BUSINESS AND THE PRODUCTS DEVELOPED USING THE INFORMATION IN OUR DATABASES MAy BE SuBjecT TO
GOVERNMENT REGULATION.

Any new drug developed by the efforts of our pharmaceutical and biotechnology customers must undergo an extensive regulatory
review process in the United States and other countries before it can be marketed. This regulatory process can take many years and require
substantial expense. Changes in FDA policies and the policies of similar foreign regulatory bodies can increase the delay for each new
drug, product license and biological license application. We expect similar delays in the regulatory review process for any diagnostic
product, where similar review, or other approval, is required. Even if marketing clearance is obtained, a marketed product and its
manufactuter are subject to continuing review. Discovery of previously unknown problems with a product may result in withdrawal of the
product from the market.

We are not aware that any product resultng from the use of our genomic information products and services has been released for
commercialization in the United States, ot elsewhere. In addition, no investigational new drug application has been submitted for any such
product candidate. We rely on our customers to file such applications and to direct the regulatory review process. We cannot be certain if
or when our customers will submit any applications for regulatory review, or whether our customers will be able to obtain marketing
clearance for any products on a timely basis, if at all. If our customets fail to obtain required governmental clearances, it will prevent them
from marketing drugs ot diagnostic products until such clearance can be obtained, if at all. The occurrence of any of these events may
cause our business, financial condition and results of operations to suffer.

In addition, our access to and use of human or other tissue samples in the expansion of our genomic information products and services
may become subject to government regulation, both in the United States and abroad. United States and foreign government agencies may
also impose restrictions on the use of data derived from human or other tissue samples. If our access to or use of human tissue samples or
our customers' use of data derived from such samples is restricted, our business will suffer.

WE MAaYy HAVE DIFFICULTY MANAGING QUR GROWTH.

We expect to continue to experience significant growth in the number of customers and the scope of our operations. This growth may
continue to place a significant strain on our management and operations. Our ability to manage this growth will depend upon our ability to
broaden our management team and our ability to attract, hire and retain skilled employees. Our success will also depend on the ability of
our officers and key employees to continue to implement and improve our operational and other systems, to manage an increasing number
of customer relationships and to hire, train and manage our employees. Our future success is heavily dependent upon growth and
acceptance of our genomic information products and services. If we cannot scale our business appropriately or otherwise adapt to
anticipated growth in this area, a key pa}t of our strategy may not be successful. In addition, we must continue to invest in customer
support resources as the number of customers for our information products and their requests for support increase. Our customers
typically have worldwide operations and may require support at multiple U.S. and foreign sites.
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THE GENOMICS INDUSTRY IS INTENSELY COMPETITIVE AND EVOLVING RAPIDLY, AND WE MAY FALL BEHIND CQUR
COMPETITORS.

Competition exists among entities attempting to identify genes associated with specific diseases and to develop products and services
based on these discoveries. We face competition in these areas from pharmaceutical, biotechnology and diagnostic companies, academic
and research institutions and government or other publicly funded agencies, both in the United States and abroad. We are aware that
certain entities are using a variety of gene expression analysis methodologies, including the use of chip-based systems, to attempt to identify
disease-related genes. In addition, numerous pharmaceutical companies are developing genomic research programs, either alone or in
partnership with our competitors. Competition among such entities is intense and is expected to increase. In order to compete against
existing and future technologies, we will need to demonstrate 1o potential customers that our technologies and capabilities are superior to
competing technologies.

Some of our competitors have substandally greater capital resources, research and development staffs, facilities, manufacturing and
marketing experience, distribution channels and human resources than do we. These competitors may discover, characterize or develop
important genes, drug targets, drug leads or drugs that occur in advance of our customers' efforts, or which are more effective than those
developed by our customers. Furthermore, these competitors may obtain regulatory approvals of their drugs more rapidly than our
customets. Moreover, our competitors may obtain patent protection or other intellectual property rights that would limit our rights or our
customers' ability to use our products to commetcialize therapeutic or diagnostic products. We also face competition from these and other
entities in gaining access to cells, tissues and nucleic acid samples used in building our genomic information products and services. Any of
these developments could have a material adverse effect on our business.

Future competition will come from existing competitors, as well as other companies seeking to develop new technologies for drug
discovery based on gene sequencing, target gene identification, bioinformatics and related technologies. In addition, certain pharmaceutical
and biotechnology companies have significant needs for genomic information and may choose to develop or acquire competing
technologies to meet such needs.

Genomic technologies have undergone, and are expected to continue to undergo, rapid and significant change. Our future success will
depend in large part on maintaining a competitive position in the genomics field. Rapid technological development by us or others may
result in products or technologies becoming obsolete before we recover the expenses incurred in connection with the development of such
products or technologies. Products offered by us could become less competitive by less expensive or more effective drug discovery
technologies, including technologies that may be unrelated to genomics. We may not be able to make the enhancements to our technology
necessary to compete successfully with newly emerging technologies.

QOUR REVENUE ARE DERIVED PRIMARILY FROM, AND ARE SUBJECT TO, RISKS FACED BY THE PHARMACEUTICAL AND
BIOTECHNOCLOGY INDUSTRIES.

We expect that our revenue in the foreseeable future will be derived primarily from products provided to the pharmaceutical and
biotechnology industries. Accordingly, our success will depend directly upon customer demand for our genomic information products and
services. Qur operating results may fluctuate substantially due to reductions and/or delays in research and development expenditures by
companies in these industries. These reductions and/or delays may result from factors such as:

®  changes in economic conditions;

e changes in the regulatory environment affecting our products;

®  pricing pressures and reimbursement policies; '

o  market-dtiven pressures on companies to consolidate and reduce costs;
®

other factors affecting customer research and development spending; and

]

additional regulation of drug development.
None of these factors is within our control.

MULTIPLE FACTORS BEYOND OQOUR CONTROL MAY CAUSE FLUCTUATIONS IN OUR OPERATING RESULTS AND MAY CAUSE QUR
BUSINESS TO SUFFER.

Our revenue and results of operations may fluctuate significantly, depending on a variety of factors, including the following:

e  our success in selling, and changes in the demand for, our products;
o the pricing of our products;
e  the timing of our new product introductions, if any;

e the cost, quality and availability of cell and tissue samples, reagents and related components and technologies, including those
supplied to us pursuant to contractual arrangements;

©  the timing of upgrades to our GeneExpress Software System;
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e  the timing of content updates to GeneExpress products;

®  costs, if any, associated with our equity investments;

e  the success ot failures of our partners in developing additional content and technologies;

®  changes in the research and development budgets of our customers and potential customers;

o the introduction of new products and services by our competitors;

©  regulatory actions;

o  expenses related to the outcomes of litigation and other proceedings related to intellectual property rights;
©  the cost and timing of our adoption of new technologies; and

©  the supply and quality of raw materials supplied by third parties.

In particular, revenue from our genomic information business are unpredictable because:

© the sales cycle for our information products is lengthy; and
© we are dependent upon continued commercial demand for the information we gather and provide.

We cannot control many of these factors. In addition, if our revenue in a particular period do not meet expectations, we may not be
able to adjust our expenditures in that period, which could cause our business to suffer. We believe that period-to-period comparisons of
our financial results will not necessarily be meaningful. One should not rely on these comparisons as an indication of our future
petformance. If our operating results in any future period fall below the expectations of securities analysts and investors, our stock price
may fall significantly.

ANY FUTURE ACQUISITICONS WILL CREATE RISKS AND UNCERTAINTIES.

We may acquire other assets, technologies and businesses. We cannot be sure, however, that acquisition candidates will be available or
will be available on terms acceptable to us. Future acquisitions that we may complete involve risks such as the following:

©  we may be exposed to unknown liabilities of acquired companies;

®  our acquisition and integration costs may be higher than we anticipated and may cause our quarterly and annual operating results
to fluctuate;

©  combining the operations and personnel of the acquired businesses with our own may be difficult and costly, and integrating or
completing the development and application of acquired technologies may distupt our business and divert management's time and
attention;

®  our telationships with key customers of acquired businesses may be impaired due to changes in management and ownership of
the acquired businesses;

©  we may be unable to retain key employees of the acquired businesses or hire enough qualified technical personnel to staff new or
expanded operations;

®  we may incur impairment and amortization expenses if an acquisition results in significant goodwill or other intangible assets; and

®  our stockholders may be diluted if we pay for the acquisition with equity securities.

WE DEPEND ON KEY EMPLOYEES IN A COMPETITIVE MARKET FOR SKILLED PERSONNEL.,

We are highly dependent on the principal members of our management, operations and scientific staff and have entered into
employment agreements with many of these persons. The loss of any these persons' services could have a material adverse effect on our
business.

Our future success also will depend in part on the continued service of our key scientific, software, bioinformatics and management
personnel and our ability to identify, hire and retain additional personnel. We experience intense competition for qualified personnel. We
may not be able to continue to attract and retain personnel necessaty for the development of our business.

OUR ACTIVITIES INVOLVE HAZARDOUS MATERIALS AND MAY SUBJECT US TO ENVIRONMENTAL LIABILITY.

Our research and development involves the controlled use of hazardous and radioactive materials and biological waste. We are subject
to federal, state and local laws and regulations governing the use, manufacture, storage, handling and disposal of these materials and certain
waste products. Although we believe that our safety procedures for handling and disposing of these materials comply with legally
prescribed standards, we cannot completely eliminate the risk of accidental contamination or injury from these materials. In the event of
an accident, we could be held liable for damages or penalized with fines, and this liability could exceed our resources.

We believe that we are in compliance in all material respects with applicable environmental laws and regulations and currently do not
expect to make material additional capital expenditures for environmental control facilities in the near term. However, we may have to
incur significant costs to comply with environmental laws and regulations.
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WE MAY BE EXPOSED TO PRODUCT LIABILITY AND RELATED RISKS.

We may be exposed to claims of liability from the use of products that either we or our customers provide. For example, we may be
subject to product liability if our GeneExpress products contain inaccurate information, or if our information is detived based on
Affymetrix microatrays that are proven defective, or if any of our customers develops ot commercializes a product discovered through the
use of our genomic information products which results in injury or death to clinical trial participants or patients. While we currently
maintain professional liability insurance, our insurance coverage may not be adequate to protect us against future claims. Futthermore, our
customers may not indemnify us against these types of claims or may not themselves be adequately insured or, in the case of smaller
companies, have a net worth sufficient to satisfy any product lLiability claims.

WE MAY NEED TO RAISE ADDITIONAL FUNDS IN THE FUTURE.

While we believe that existing cash, cash equivalents and marketable securities and anticipated payments from customers will be
sufficient to support our operations for the foreseeable future, at some point we could require additonal funding. We may choose to raise
additional capital due to market conditions or strategic considerations even if we have sufficient funds for our operating plan. We may
seek funding through public or private equity offerings, debt financings or arrangements with customers. If we raise additional capital by
issuing equity or convertible debt securities, this issuance may dilute share ownership and future investors may be granted rights superior to
those of current shareholders.

Additional financing may not be available when needed, or, if available, may not be available on favorable terms. If we cannot obtain
adequate financing on acceptable terms when such financing is required, our business will be adversely affected.

OUR STOCK PRICE IS HIGHLY VOLATILE.

The market price of our common stock is likely to continue to be highly volatile due to risks and uncertainties described in this Annual
Report on Form 10-K, as well as other factors including: conditions and publicity regarding the genomics or life sciences industties
generally; sales of substantial amounts of our stock by existing stockholders; price and volume fluctuations in the stock market which do
not relate to out opetating performance; and comments by securities analysts or our failure to meet analysts' expectations.

Furthermore, the stock market has from time to time experienced extreme price and volume fluctuations that may be unrelated to the
operating performance of particular companies. In addition, in the past, class action lawsuits have been initiated against biotechnology and
pharmaceutical companies following petiods of volatility in the market prices of these companies’ stock. In general, decreases in our stock
price would reduce the value of our stockholders' investments and could limit our ability to raise necessary capital or make acquisitions of
assets or businesses. If litigation were instituted on this basis, it could result in substantial costs and would divert management's attendon
and resources. This could have a material adverse effect on our business, financial condition and results of operations.

WE HAVE IMPLEMENTED ANTI-TAKEOVER PROVISIONS THAT MAY REDUCE THE MARKET PRICE OF OUR COMMON STOCK.

Provisions of our Certificate of Incorporation and By-laws and Delaware law could make it more difficult for a third party to acquire us,
even if the acquisition would be beneficial to our stockholders. This could prevent the consummation of a transaction in which our
stockholders could receive a substantial premium over the current market price for their shares.

Our Certificate of Incorporation gives our board of directors the authority to issue up to 10,000,000 shares of preferred stock and to
determine the price, rights, preferences and privileges and restrictions, including voting rights, of those shares without any further vote or
action by our stockholders. The rights of the holders of common stock will be subject to, and may be harmed by, the rights of the holders
of any shares of preferred stock that may be issued in the future. The issuance of preferred stock may delay, defer or prevent a change in
control, as the terms of the preferred stock that might be issued could potentially prohibit our consummation of any merger,
reorganization, sale of substantially all of our assets, liquidation or other extraordinary corporate transaction without the approval of the
holders of the outstanding shares of preferred stock. In addition, the issuance of preferred stock could have a dilutive effect on our
stockholders.

We also have a classified board of directors serving staggered three-year terms. This could delay or limit the removal of incumbent
directors or the assumption of control by stockholders, even if such removal or assumption of control would be beneficial to stockholders,
and also could discourage or make more difficult a merger, tender offer or proxy contest, even if such events would be beneficial, in the
short term, to the interests of stockholders.
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ITEM 2. PROPERTIES

Our headquarters consist of approximately 50,000 square feet of office and research laboratory space located in Gaithetsburg, Maryland
under a lease, which expires in 2007. We also lease approximately 57,000 and 6,000 square feet of additional research laboratory and office
space between two locations in Gaithersburg, Maryland under lease arrangements with terms expiring in 2010 and 2007, respectively. We

lease approximately 13,000 square feet of office space in Berkeley, California under two lease arrangements with terms expiring in 2004 and
2007.

ITEM 3. LEGAL PROCEEDINGS
We are not currently a party to any material legal proceedings.
ITEM 4. SUBMISSION OF MATTERS TO AVOTE OF SECURITY HOLDERS

None.

PART II

ITEM 5. MARKET FOR THE REGISTRANT'S COMMON EQUITY AND RELATED
STOCKHOLDER MATTERS

Price Range of Common Stock

Our common stock has been traded on the Nasdaq National Market under the symbol GLGC since November 21, 1997, The
following table sets forth for the periods indicated the high and low closing prices for our common stock, as reported by the Nasdaq
National Market.

High Low

Year ended December 31, 2000

First Quarter............... e $144.625 $ 24.750
Second Quarter 46.250 18.438
Third Quarter............. 35.500 16.563
Fourth Quarter....coovenverrerciniisiininn, 25.813 14.563
Year ended December 31, 2001

First QUALLEr .o, 25.125 14.188
Second Quarter 26.050 14.984
Third Quastet.......covne.. 21.300 11.140
Fourth Quatter.....cccoccvenmmnnnieens $ 20.800 $ 12.400

On March 1, 2002, the last reported sale price of our common stock on the Nasdaq National Market was $16.52. As of March 1, 2002,
there were approximately 259 holders of record of the Company's Common Stock.

We have never declared or paid any cash dividends on our capital stock. We currently intend to retain earnings, if any, to support the
development of our business and do not anticipate paying cash dividends for the foreseeable future. Payment of future dividends, if any,
will be at the discretion of our board of directors after taking into account various factors, including our financial condition, operating
results and current and anticipated cash needs.
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ITEM 6. SELECTED CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL DATA

The selected consolidated financial data set forth below with respect to the Company's consolidated statements of operations for the
years ended December 31, 2001, 2000 and 1999 and with respect to the consolidated balance sheets at December 31, 2001 and 2000 have
been derived from audited consolidated financial statements included as part of this Annual Report on Form 10-K. The statements of
operations data for the years ended December 31, 1998 and 1997 and the balance sheet data at December 31, 1999, 1998 and 1997 are
detived from audited financial statements not included in this Annual Report on Form 10-K. The following selected consolidated financial
data should be read in conjunction with the consolidated financial statements and notes thereto included elsewhere in this Annual Report

on Form 10-K.
Years Ended December 31,
2001 2000 1999 1998 1997
(in thousands, except per share data)
Consolidated Statements of Operations Data:
REVENUE oottt bbb sba s ssins s s s § 43,328 $ 26,883 $ 19,202 § 13,197 § 2,047
Expenses:
Research and development ... 59,029 44,014 29,570 16,605 6,061
Selling, general and administrative .oo.emeeeeveisncerirnns 19,323 17,770 9,194 7,552 3,825
Acquired in-process research and development(1)....veiniiviiinininn — — — 35,196 —
Amortization of goodwill 1,524 1.524 1.524 381 —
TOtAl EXPENSES..cvvvuriririnie st ar e 79.876 63,308 40,288 59,734 9,886
Loss from operations ... (36,548) (36,425) (21,086) (46,537) (7,839)
Interest income, net 8,645 13,706 685 1,844 745
Other income (€XPense) .......coeververvenenen. 83 234 30 (80) —
Write-down of Neuralstem investment.. 2,495 — — — —
Income tax expense 533 210 220 100 100
Net loss before equity in net loss of unconsolidated investees and
cumulative effect of change in accounting prnciple.....coviiieiieinninns (30,848) (22,695) (20,391) (44,873) (7,194)
Equity in net loss of unconsolidated investees .. 2322 — — — —
Net loss before cumulative effect of change in accourmng principle .......... (33,170 (22,695) (20,591) (44,873) (7,194
Cumulative effect of change in accounting principle........ — (1322 - — =
Netloss .. (33,170 (24,017) (20,591) (44,873) (7,194
Accretion of mandatory redemption value of preferred stock — — — — 1.286
Net loss attributable to common stockholdess......oocciiniciiinnne $ (33,170 § (24017 § (20,591) $§ (44,873) $ (8480
Amounts per common share, basic and diluted:
Net loss before cumulative effect of change in accounting
PHOCIPLE oo s $ (125 §  (090) $§ (104 5 (280 $ (397
Cumulative effect of change in accounting principle ..o — 0.03) — — —
Net loss attributable to common stockholders ... $ (1.25) $ 0.95) $ (1.04) s (2.86) § (397
Shares used in computing basic and diluted net loss per common
SRALE oottt bRttt 26,540 25,209 19,833 15,681 2,138
December 31,
2001 2000 1999 1998 1997
(in thousands)
Consolidated Balance Sheet Data:
Cash, cash equivalents and marketable secufities ....c..ccoovvrvnmreniiniiniiniinnns $ 197,818 $ 229,482 $ 12,446 $ 30,982 $ 40,621
Working capital..... 187,184 211,300 5,423 26,573 42,455
Total assets ......... 256,927 289,533 41,166 55,566 53,972
Total long-term debt and capital lease obligations 338 2,966 4,590 5,305 1,551
Total stockholders' equity.... 8 226,027 % 253,715 $ 23,068 § 41,288 § 46,067

(1) In connection with our acquisition of Oncormed, we incurred a non-recurring charge of $35.2 million related to the write-off of acquired in-process research and

development.
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ITEM 7. MANAGEMENT'S DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS OF RESULTS OF OPERATIONS AND
FINANCIAL CONDITION

OVERVIEW

We were incorporated in September 1994 and have devoted substantially all of our resources to the development, marketing and sales
of genomics information and bioinformatics products and services to pharmaceutical and biotechnology companies for use in drug
discovery and drug development.

We commenced operations in 1996 and in 1997 began developing custom gene expression databases designed for our customers’
internal research and development programs targeted to specific therapeutic areas of interest. The skills and competencies acquired in
creating such customized information products became the foundation for developing GeneExpress, our large-scale reference database of
gene expression information, in early 1999. GeneExpress comprises what we believe to be one of the wotld’s most comprehensive survey
of gene expression in human and animal tissues related to disease and drug toxicity. The first commercial vetsion of GeneExpress was
launched in late 1999. Currently, we market and sell our GeneExpress line of products and services to pharmaceutical and biotechnology
customers worldwide. We sold our first subscription to GeneExpress in December 1999,

Our GeneExpress information products and services consist of three primary products: BioExpress, from which are derived
DataSuites, CustomSuites and GeneExpress Reports; ToxExpress; and Genesis Enterprise System and its associated professional services.
Typically, GeneExpress products are accessed under three-year term subscription agreements with current aggregate pricing ranging
between $2.5 and $16 million, depending upon a variety of factors, including the product accessed and the level and type of information.
Current pricing for GeneExpress Reports is on a pay-per-view basis and ranges between $25,000 and $0.3 million, depending on the
number of genes and tissue samples surveyed. Curtent pricing for a license to Genesis and its associated professional services range from
$0.3 million to over $1.0 million, depending upon which elements of the system and services are purchased. Pricing for customized
information products based on proprietary genomic services under collaboraton agreements have been determined on a case-by-case basis
and typically include annual access fees, research support and milestone payments.

Subscription fees to GeneExpress products are recognized systematically over the term of the subscription. Fees from GeneExpress
Report purchases are recognized upon delivery of the report(s). Fees associated with Genesis licenses are currently recognized ratably over
the term of the initial maintenance provision under the license agreement. Integration services fees are recognized on the percentage-of-
completion method. Fees from customized information products are recognized when custom services are performed or costs are
incurred. Milestone payments related to customized information products ate recognized when they are earned in accordance with the
applicable performance requirements and contractual terms. Under agreements in which we create databases in exchange for fixed fees,
revenue from such agreements is recognized on the percentage-of-completion method. Our business agreements may provide the right for
early termination without penalty to our customers,

Our future profitability will depend in part on the continued successful commercialization of our GeneExpress products and services
through the establishment of agreements with additional customers, renewal of agreements with, and agreements for addidonal products
for, existing customers. Payments to access our GeneExpress products and services are expected to be our primary source of revenue for
the foreseeable future. We have not received, and do not expect to receive, significant royalty or other revenue from development and
commercialization of products by our customers using our customized information products based on proprietary genomic services.
Revenue from our customers may be subject to significant fluctuation in both timing and amount and, therefore, our results of operations
for any period may not be comparable to the results of operations for any other period.

We have incurred operating losses in each year since our inception. At December 31, 2001, we had accumulated operating losses of
$135.3 million. Our losses have resulted principally from costs incurred in the development of our genomic information products and
services ($59.0 million, $44.0 million and $29.6 million for the years ended December 31, 2001, 2000 and 1999, respectively), a $35.2
million non-recutring charge incurred in connection with our acquisition of Oncormed and selling, general and administrative costs
associated with our operations. These costs have exceeded our revenue, which to date have been generated principally from subscriptions
to our GeneExpress products and services and agreements for our customized information products. We expect to incur additonal
operating losses in the future.

RESULTS OF OPERATIONS

YEARS ENDED DECEMBER 31, 2001 AND 2000

Revenue increased $16.4 million or 61% to $43.3 million in 2001 from $26.9 million in 2000. The increase in revenue resulted primarily
from additional subscribers to our GeneExpress product line, expanded subscription levels for existing GeneExpress customers and the
completion of custom database and other service deliverables in 2001. Revenue from each of Procter & Gamble and UCB Research
accounted for 10% or more of revenue for 2001 and revenue from each of Japan Tobacco and Procter & Gamble accounted for 10% or
more of revenue for 2000. As of December 31, 2001, we had concluded all of our obligations under the terms of the agreements with
Japan Tobacco and Procter & Gamble.
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Research and development expenses increased to $59.0 million in 2001 from $44.0 million in 2000. Of the increase in research and
development expenses, $4.3 million, $4.2 million, $3.4 million and $2.1 million was due to increased Affymetrix GeneChip microarray
usage, depreciation and amortization costs, research and consulting agreement costs and tissue acquisition costs, respectively. Of the
increase in depreciation and amortization costs, $3.4 million was due to amortization expense related to licenses of technology and software
and database development costs. Research and development expenses have increased and will continue to increase due to our continued
expansion of our GeneExpress product lines’ content, upgrade to the database and to our bioinformatics capabilities and development of
new product offerings.

Selling, general and administrative expenses increased to $19.3 million in 2001 from $17.8 million in 2000. These costs include the
costs of corporate operations, finance and accounting, human resources and other general operations. Of the increase in selling, general
and administrative expenses, $1.9 million was due to a full year of activity in 2001 relating to our sales and marketing efforts, which were
established in 2000. Selling, general and administrative expenses are expected to increase slightly as we expand our product offerings and
related sales and marketing efforts.

Amortization of goodwill was $1.5 million in 2001 and 2000, as a result of the acquisition of Oncormed in September 1998. In
accordance with the Financial Accounting Standards Board Statement of Financial Accounting Standards No. 142, “Goodwill and Othet
Intangible Assets”, which we adopted January 1, 2002, we no longer amortize goodwill, but instead beginning in 2002 will apply annual
impairment tests in accordance with the Statement. We completed the initial impairment analysis upon its adoption, which resulted in no
impairment to goodwill.

Net intetest income decreased to $8.6 million in 2001 from $13.7 million in 2000 primarily due to decreases in the rates of return for
our investments in cash, cash equivalents and marketable securities available-for-sale.

During 2001, we accounted for our investment in Neuralstem, Inc., a privately held company in which we initially had a voting stock
interest of 26.7%, using the equity method of accounting. We recognized non-cash losses of $1.5 million for the year ended December 31,
2001. Effective April 30, 2001, we sold back to Neuralstem a portion of our shares for approximately $2.7 million, payable with a
promissory note. As a result of the repurchase, which reduced our voting stock interest to 14.8%, we began accounting for our investment
using the cost method of accounting. During the fourth quarter of 2001, we recorded a $2.5 million write-down of our investment in
Neuralstem to its estimated market value. At December 31, 2001, following the write-down, the value of our investment, including the
promissory note, was $4.3 million. We cannot predict at this time whether an additional write-down of this investment will be required.

During 2001, we completed a spin-off of our patented Flow-thru Chip technology to a newly created subsidiary, MetriGenix. We
contributed relevant intellectual property and know-how associated with the Flow-thru Chip technology, and transferred certain employees,
to the new venture in exchange for voting common stock. Concurrent with the spin-off, MetriGenix sold voting preferred stock to certain
investors for $15 million, which reduced our voting ownership interest as of the closing to 54%. The sharcholders entered into an
agreement which contains certain restrictions on transfer of MetriGenix stock and provisions regarding certain matters of corporate
governance, including provisions that provide the investors with veto rights with respect to certain significant aspects of MetriGenix’s
operations and with majority representation on the Board of Directors. As a result, because we do not control MetriGenix, we account for
our investment using the equity method. During the year ended December 31, 2001, we recorded 100% of MetriGenix’s losses up to the
value of our contribution ($0.9 million). As our investment in MetriGenix has been reduced to zero at December 31, 2001 and we have no
commitment to provide future funding, we do not expect to record additional losses related to our investment in the future. We also
entered into certain agreements with MetriGenix including a subscription to GeneExpress and to provide certain administrative services
and subleased space. No revenue was recorded related to the subscription in 2001. For the year ended December 31, 2001, we received
tees of $0.3 million for the reimbursement of costs associated with providing administrative services and subleased space. These fees will
continue as long as we provide such services and subleased space and are expected to approximate $0.5 million in 2002.

During 2000, we recorded a cumulative effect of an accounting change of §$1.3 million related to the adoption of SAB 101.
YEARS ENDED DECEMBER 31, 2000 AND 1999

Revenue increased $7.7 million or 40% to $26.9 million in 2000 from $19.2 million in 1999. The increase in revenue resulted primarily
from additional subscribers to our GeneExpress product line, which was introduced in late 1999. Revenue in 2000 include the increase of
$0.8 million after giving the effect to the adoption of SEC Staff Accounting Bulletin No. 101 “Revenue Recognition in Financial
Statements” (“SAB 1017), which we adopted in the fourth quarter of 2000 with retroactive application to January 1, 2000. Revenue from
each of Japan Tobacco and Procter & Gamble accounted for 10% or more of revenue for 2000 and revenue from each of Aventis
CropScience, Japan Tobacco and Procter & Gamble accounted for 10% or more of revenue for 1999,

Research and development expenses increased to $44.0 million in 2000 from $29.6 million in 1999. Of the increase in research and
development expenses, $7.4 million was due to increased tissue acquisition and processing costs and Affymetrix GeneChips usage and the
remainder was primarily attributed to $2.6 million in research agreement expenses. These increases were necessary to expand and enhance
the content and product offerings of GeneExpress.

Selling, general and administrative expenses increased to $17.8 million in 2000 from $9.2 million in 1999. These costs include the costs
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of corporate operations, finance and accounting, human resources and other general operations. Of the increase in selling, general and
administrative expenses, $5.8 million was due to the establishment of our sales and marketing efforts and the remainder of the increase was
due to continued expansion of our operations.

Amortization of goodwill was $1.5 million in 2000 and 1999, as a result of the acquisition of Oncormed in September 1998.

Net interest income increased to $13.7 million in 2000 from $0.7 million in 1999 primarily due to investment of the proceeds of our
follow-on public offering of common stock in February 2000.

During 2000, we recorded a cumulative effect of an accounting change of $1.3 million related to the adoption of SAB 101.

LIQUIDITY AND CAPITAL RESOURCES

From inception through December 31, 2001, we have financed our operations through the sale of equity securities and payments from
customers. In February 2000, we completed a follow-on public offering of 4,680,000 shares of our common stock, generating net
proceeds of approximately $247.5 million. As of December 31, 2001, we had approximately $197.8 million in cash, cash equivalents and
marketable securities available-for-sale, compared to $229.5 million as of December 31, 2000.

Net cash used in operating activities was $17.2 million for the year ended December 31, 2001 compared to $2.0 million during the same
petiod in 2000. The net decrease in operatng working capital for the year ended December 31, 2001 as compared to the same period in
2000 was primarily due to the continued funding of our operating losses.

During the years ended December 31, 2001 and 2000, our investing activities, other than purchases and sales and maturities of
available-for-sale securities, consisted primarily of capital expenditures, software and database development costs and an $8.1 million equity
investment in Neuralstem in 2000. Capital expenditures for the years ended December 31, 2001 and 2000 amounted to $8.3 million and
$9.7 million, respectively. For the year ended December 31, 2001, approximately 50% of these expenditures related to the purchases of
laboratory and computer equipment needed to expand the content of our GeneExpress product line, whereas approximately 35% related
to tenant improvements for the build-out of our production facility, which was completed in March 2001. During the same period in 2000,
these allocations were approximately 75% and 25%, respectively. We expect laboratory and computer equipment purchases to continue as
we expand the content of, and the products derived from, GeneExpress.

We have capitalized software costs of $6.2 million and $4.2 million for the years ended December 31, 2001 and 2000, respectively.
These costs relate to ongoing efforts to enhance the Genesis, the softwate platform of our GeneExpress product line. During the year
ended December 31, 2000, we capitalized $3.8 million of database development costs related to the purchase of data from N.V. Organon
and the update of data in GeneExpress as a result of Affymetrix’s release of their GeneChip Human Genome U95 Set. During 2002, we
will upgrade our GeneExpress as a result of Affymetrix’s release of the GeneChip Human Genome U133 Set. These costs will be greater
than those incurred for the previous upgrade in 2000. Software and database development costs are being amortized over their expected
useful lives of three and two years, respectively. Additional, software development and database development costs are expected to
continue as a result of ongoing efforts to further enhance our GeneExpress line of products and services.

Our financing activities, other than the repayment of capital lease obligations and equipment loans, consisted of the issuance of
common stock primatily through our follow-on public offering in February 2000, the exercise of stock options and the exercise of a
warrant in February 2001. During the year ended December 31, 2001, we prepaid an equipment loan in full totaling approximately 31.9
million due to the cost of such capital and the prevailing intetest rates in the market.

In January 1999, we entered into a three-year agreement with Affymetrix, pursuant to which Affymetrix supplied its GeneChip
mictroarrays to us for the development of gene expression databases. During 2001, we renegotiated and extended this agreement for two
years, subject to renewal, commencing January 2002. Under the terms of the new agreement, we continue to pay Affymetrix subscription
fees for access to the microarrays, purchase the microarrays and related instrumentation and software and expect to record royalty expense,
payable to Affymetrix, in future years upon meeting certain GeneExpress subscription revenue thresholds. During 2002, we have agreed to
putchase from Affymetrix a minimum of $15.1 million in products and services. Our commitments under other research and license
agteements do not represent significant expenditures in relation to our total research and development expense.

During January 2001, we paid Incyte Genomics, Inc. $9.0 million in connection with the settlement of litigation. As part of the

settlement agreement, we acquired a worldwide, nonexclusive license for the terms of the relevant patents. A portion of the payment to
Incyte has been recorded as a license and is being amortzed over its expected useful life of five years.
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As discussed in Notes 7 and 11 to our consolidated financial statements future minimum long-term debt payments, operating lease
payments and purchase commitments are listed below:

Within Years 2 Years 4 DBeyond
Total Yearl And 3 and 5 Year 5

Long-term debt.......cvcunvenuencn, $ 338 % 38 $ 82 8 91 § 127
Operating leases ....ccovvivnennn, 20,921 2,875 5,752 5,541 6,753
Purchase commitment............ 15,100 15,100 — — —
TOtAl e, $36,359 $18,013 $ 5834 § 5632 §$.6,880

We believe that existing cash, cash equivalents and marketable securities available-for-sale and anticipated payments from customers will
be sufficient to support our operations for the foreseeable future. These estimates are forward-looking statements that involve risks and
uncertainties. Our actual future capital requirements and the adequacy of our available funds will depend on many factors, including those
discussed under “Business—Risk Factors”.

CHANGE IN ACCOUNTING PRINCIPLE

Effective January 1, 2000, we changed our method of accounting for revenue in accordance with SAB 101. Prior to 2000, we
recognized as revenue certain nonrefundable up-front payments for the value of data purchased, transfer of technology or other
contractual rights that were not contingent upon future performance under the terms of the agreement either upon signing of the
agreement or when collected. Under the new accounting method adopted retroactive to January 1, 2000, we now defer these
nonrefundable up-front payments and recognize them as revenue systematically over the life of the related collaboration agreements. The
cumulative effect of the change on prior years resulted in a charge of $1.3 million, which is included in the net loss for the year ended
December 31, 2000.

CRITICAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES

We have prepared our financial statements in conformity with accounting principles generally accepted in the United States and these
statements necessarily include some amounts that are based on informed judgments and estimates of management. Our significant
accounting policies are discussed in Note 1 of the notes to our consolidated financial statements. As discussed below, our financial
position or results of operations may be materially affected when reported under different conditions or when using different assumptions
in the application of such policies. In the event estimates or assumptions prove to be different from actual amounts, adjustments are made
in subsequent periods to reflect more current information. We believe the following critical accounting policies affect our more significant
judgements and estimates used in the preparation of our consolidated financial statements.

REVENUE RECOGNITION

Our revenue recognition policy is significant because revenue is a key component of our results of operations. Revenue is generated
primarily from subscriptions to our GeneExpress products and services and is recognized systematically over the term of each agreement
in accordance with SAB 101, as amended by SAB 101A and 101B. SAB 101 requires four basic criteria be met before revenue can be
recognized: (1) persuasive evidence of an arrangement exists; (2) delivery has occurred or services rendered; (3) the fee is fixed and
determinable; and (4) collectability is reasonably assured. Determination of criteria (3) and (4) are based on management's judgments
regarding the fixed nature of the subscription fees taking into account eatly termination provisions and the collectability of those fees (see
“Accounts Receivable). Revenue recognized for multiple element contracts are allocated to each element of the arrangement based on the
relative fair value of the element. The determination of fair value of each element is based on management’s analysis of objective evidence
from comparable historical sales of the individual element to our customers. If such evidence of fair value for any element of the
arrangement does not exist, revenue from such element is deferred until such time that evidence of fair value does exist or is recognized
systematically over the longest performance period of the remaining elements. Should changes in conditions cause management to
determine these criteria are not met for certain future transactions, revenue recognized for any reporting period could be adversely affected.

ACCOUNTS RECEIVABLE

Our ability to collect outstanding receivables from our customers is ctitical to our operating performance and cash flows. Typically, our
customer agreements require advance quarterly payments mitigating such risk, but other agreements may contain deferred payments. At
December 31, 2001, we did not record an allowance for doubtful accounts as our customers’ payment history and our understanding of
their ability to make payments did not warrant such allowance. If the financial condition of our customers were to deteriorate, resulting in
an impairment of their ability to make payments, an allowance for doubtful accounts may be required.
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INVESTMENTS IN EQUITY SECURITIES

We hold equity investments in companies, none of which are publicly traded, whose businesses may be complementary to our business.
We record an investment impairment charge when it is believed that an investment has experienced a decline in value that is other than
temporary. Future adverse changes in market conditions or poor operating results of the underlying investee could result in losses or an
inability to recover the carrying value of these investments that may not be reflected in an investment’s current carrying value, thereby
possibly requiring an impairment charge in the future.

GOODWILL AND INTANGIBLE ASSETS IMPAIRMENT

We have goodwill and other intangible assets including licenses to technologies or data, patent costs and software and database
development costs. The determination of their estimated useful lives and whether or not any of these assets are impaired involves
significant judgements including the following:

©  our licensed and internally developed intellectual property may not provide valid and economical competitive advantage;
® our products may become obsolete before we recover the costs incurred in connection with their development;

) our use of such assets; and

® our market capitalization relative to net book value.

Goodwill and other intangible assets are reviewed for impairment on an ongoing basis under the established accounting guidelines.
Changes in business conditions could potentially cause adjustments to asset valuations thereby possibly requiring an impairment charge in
the future.

NEW PRONOUNCEMENTS

In June 2001, the Financial Accounting Standards Board issued Statements of Financial Accounting Standards No. 141, “Business
Combinations”, and No. 142, “Goodwill and Other Intangible Assets”, which we adopted on January 1, 2002. Under the new standards,
goodwill will no longer be amortized, but will be subject to annual impairment tests in accordance with the Statements. Other intangible
assets will continue to be amortized over theit expected useful lives. We will apply the new standards on accounting for goodwill and other
intangible assets beginning in the first quarter of 2002. Application of the nonamortization provisions of the Statement is expected to
result in a decrease in amortization expenses and net loss of $1.5 million per year. As of March 1, 2002, we completed the first of the
required impairment tests of goodwill as of January 1, 2002, resulting in no impairment to goodwill.

On January 1, 2001, we adopted Statement of Financial Accounting Standards No. 133, “Accounting for Derivative Instruments and
Hedging Activities” (“SFAS 133”), as amended by SFAS 137 and 138. SFAS 133 requires all detivatives to be recorded at fair value.
Unless designated as hedges, changes in these fair values will be recorded in the income statement. Fair value changes involving hedges
will generally be recorded by offsetting gains and losses on the hedge and on the hedged item, even if the fair value of the hedged item is
not otherwise recorded. Adoption of this standard had no impact on our financial statements.

In August 2001, the Financial Accounting Standards Board issued Statement of Financial Accounting Standards No. 144, “Accounting
for the Impairment or Disposal of Long-Lived Assets” (“SFAS 144”). SFAS 144 addresses the financial accounting and reporting for the
impairment or disposal of long-lived assets. SFAS 144 supersedes SFAS 121 but retains the fundamental provisions of SFAS 121 for ()
recognition/measurement of impairment of long-lived assets to be held and used and (if) measurement of long-lived assets to be disposed
of by sale. SFAS 144 also supersedes the accounting and reporting provisions of Accounting Principles Board’s No. 30, “Reporting the
Results of Operations—Reporting the Effects of Disposal of a Segment of a Business, and Extraordinary, Unusual and Infrequently
Occurring Events and Transactions” (“APB 30), for segments of a business to be disposed of but retains APB 30’s requirement to report
discontinued operations separately from continuing operations and extends that reporting to a component of an entity that either has been
disposed of or is classified as held for sale. We adopted the provisions of SFAS 144 effective January 1, 2002, which had no material
impact on our financial statements.

ITEM 7A. QUANTITATIVE AND QUALITATIVE DISCLOSURE ABOUT MARKE

We have limited exposure to financial market risks, including changes in interest rates. At December 31, 2001, we had cash and cash
equivalents of approximately $128.3 million and marketable securities available-for-sale of $69.5 million. Cash and cash equivalents
consisted of money matket accounts, investment-grade commercial paper and government agency notes. Marketable securities available-
for-sale consisted of investment-grade commercial paper and U.S. Treasury notes and bills. Based on the cash balance at December 31,
2001, a 100 basis point adverse movement in interest rates would result in an increase in net loss for the year ended December 31, 2001 by
approximately $2.0 million. Actual changes in rates may differ from the hypothetical assumptions used in computing this exposure.
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ITEM 8. FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND SUPPLEMENTARY DATA

The Company's Consolidated Financial Statements and notes thereto, together with the Report of Independent Auditors and Report of
Independent Public Accountants thereon, appear on pages F-1 through F-21 of this Annual Report on Form 10-K and are incorporated
herein by reference.

ITEM 9. CHANGES IN AND DISAGREEMENTS WITH ACCOUNTANTS ON ACCOUNTING
AND FINANCIAL DISCLOSURE

Previously reported with respect to fiscal year ended December 31, 2000,

PART III
ITEM 10. DIRECTORS AND EXECUTIVE OFFICERS OF THE REGISTRANT
IDENTIFICATION OF DIRECTORS
The information required by this item is incorporated by reference to the information set forth in the section capdoned “Election of
Directors,” contained in the Company's definitive Proxy Statement for the 2002 Annual Meeting of Stockholders to be filed with the
Securities and Exchange Commission within 120 days after the end of the Company's fiscal year ended December 31, 2001 (the "Proxy
Statement").

IDENTIFICATION OF EXECUTIVE OFFICERS

The information required by this item is incorporated by reference to the information set forth in the section entitled “Executive
Officers” in Part I, Item 1 of this Annual Report on Form 10-K.

COMPLIANCE WITH SECTION 16(A) OF THE SECURITIES EXCHANGE ACT OF 1934

The information required by this item is incorporated by reference to the information set forth in the section entitled “Section 16(a)
Beneficial Ownership Reporting Compliance” contained in the Proxy Statement.

ITEM 11. EXECUTIVE COMPENSATION

The information required by this item is incorporated by reference to the information set forth in the section captoned "Executive
Compensation" contained in the Proxy Statement.

ITEM 12. SECURITY OWNERSHIP OF CERTAIN BENEFICIAL OWNERS AND MANAGEMENT

The information required by this item is incorporated by reference to the information set forth in the section captioned "Security
Ownership of Certain Beneficial Owners and Management” contained in the Proxy Statement.

ITEM 13. CERTAIN RELATIONSHIPS AND RELATED TRANSACTIONS

The information required by this item is incorporated by reference to the information set forth in the section captioned "Certain
Transactions" contained in the Proxy Statement.




PART IV

ITEM 14. EXHIBITS, FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AWND SCHEDULES AND REPORTS ON FORM
8-K

{a)1. Financial Statements

Page

Consolidated Financial Statements of Gene Logic Inc.
Report of Independent Auditors and Report of Independent Public Accountants ....... F-2
Consolidated Balance Sheets as of December 31, 2001 and 2000........cccocrvivenrnnnne F-3
Consolidated Statements of Operations for the Years Ended

December 31, 2001, 2000 and 1999.......coiiiviiiiiiiiinicreee e F-4
Consolidated Statements of Stockholders' Equity for the

Years Ended December 31, 1999, 2000 and 2001 ......cccovivevviiioeciieiccreeec e F-5
Consolidated Statements of Cash Flows for the Years Ended

December 31, 2001, 2000 and 1999.....c.ovvii oot et F-6
Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements........c.cocoeveerevinierncnienne e F-7

(a)2. Financial Statement Schedules

Schedules for which provision is made in the applicable accounting regulations of the Securities and Exchange Commission are not
required under the related instruction or are inapplicable and therefore have been omitted.

(a)3. Index to Exhibits

Exhibit
Number Description of Document
3.1 Amended and Restated Certificate of Incorporation.(1)
, 32 By-Laws, as amended and restated.(6)
4.1 Reference is made to Exhibits 3.1 and 3.2.
4.2 Specimen stock certificate.(1)
*10.1 Form of Indemnity Agreement entered into between Registrant and its directors and officers. (1)
*10.2 Registrant's 1997 Equity Incentive Plan, as amended (the “Stock Plan”).(2)
*10.3 Form of Stock Option Agreement under the Stock Plan.(1)
*10.4 Form of Stock Option Grant Notice.(1)
*10.5 Registrant's Employee Stock Purchase Plan, as amended and related offering document.(2)
*10.6 Registrant's 1997 Non-Employee Directors’ Stock Option Plan, as amended.(3)
*10.7 Form of Nonstatutory Stock Option under the 1997 Non-Employee Directors' Stock Option Plan.(1)
*10.12 Employment Agreement, dated June 7, 2001, between the Registrant and Michael ]. Brennan.
*10.14 Employment Agreement, dated May 16, 1996, between the Registrant and Mark D. Gessler.(1)
*10.15 Amendment to the Employment Agreement, dated July 9, 1997, between the Registrant and Mark D. Gessler.(1)
10.22 Lease Agreement, dated August 22, 1997, between Registrant and ARE-708 Quince Orchard, LLC.(1)
10.22a First Amendment to Lease, dated July 21, 2000, between Registrant and ARE-708 Quince Orchard, LLC.(8)
*10.45 Amended and Restated Employment Agreement, dated April 1, 1999, between Registrant and Y. Douiglas
Dolginow.(4)
10.50 Agreement, effective January 1, 2002, between Registrant and Affymetrix, Inc.(C)
*10.53 Promissory Note, dated April 8, 1999 between the Registrant and Y. Douglas Dolginow.(4)
*10.54 Pledge and Security Agreement, dated April 8, 1999, between the Registrant and Y. Douglas Dolginow.(4)
*10.55 Executive Severance Plan, as amended February 2001.(9)
*10.58 Employment Agreement, dated October 11, 1999, between Registrant and Philip L. Rohrer, Jr.(5)
*10.59 Employment Agreement, dated January 4, 2000, between Registrant and David 8. Mutray.(6)
10.62 Series A Preferred Stock Purchase Agreement, dated April 20, 2000, between Registrant and Neuralstem, Inc.
(formerly Neuralstem Biopharmaceutical, Ltd.)(6)(A)
*10.63 Employment Agreement, dated September 1, 1997, between Registrant and Victor M. Markowitz.(6)
10.67 Lease Agreement, dated July 21, 2000 between Registrant and ARE-50 West Watkins Mill, LLC.(7)
10.70 Stock Repurchase Agreement, dated April 30, 2001, between Registrant and Neuralstem, Inc.(10)(B)
10.71 Put Option Agreement, dated April 30, 2001, between Registrant and Neuralstem, Inc.(10)(B)
10.72 Promissory Note, dated April 30, 2001, between Registrant and Neuralstem, Inc.(10)
*10.73 Agreements between certain named executive officers, the Registrant, and MetriGenix, Inc. with respect to the
purchase of restricted stock of MetriGenix, Inc.(11)
10.74 Consulting Services Agreement and Termination of Agreement, dated June 18, 2001 and as of December 31, 2001,

respectively, between Registrant and J. Stark Thompson.
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211 List of Subsidiaries.
23.1 Consent of Ernst & Young LLP, Independent Auditors.
232 Consent of Arthur Andersen LLP, Independent Public Accountants.

* Indicates management compensatory plan, contract or arrangement.

(1) Filed as an exhibit to Registrant's Registration Statement on Form S-1, filed October 7, 1997, as amended, (No. 333-37317) and
incorporated herein by reference.

(2) Filed as an exhibit to Registrant's Proxy Statement with respect to the Annual Meeting of Stockholders held on June 8, 2000, filed on
May 5, 2000, and incorporated herein by reference.

(3) Filed as an exhibit to Registrant's Proxy Statement with respect to the Annual Meeting of Stockholders held on June 8, 1999, filed on
April 30, 1999, and incorporated herein by reference.

(4)  Filed as an exhibit to Registrant's Quartetly Report on Form 10-Q for the quarter ended June 30, 1999, filed on August 13, 1999, and
incorporated herein by reference.

(5) Filed as an exhibit to Registrant’s Annual Report on Form 10-K for the fiscal year ended December 31, 1999, filed on March 30,
2000, and incorporated herein by reference.

(6) Filed as an exhibit to Registrant’s Quarterly Report on From 10-Q for the quarter ended March 31, 2000, filed on May 15, 2000, and
incorporated herein by reference.

{7) Filed as an exhibit to Registrant’s Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q for the quarter ended September 30, 2000, filed on November 14,
2000, and incorporated herein by reference.

(8) Filed as an exhibit to Registrants Annual Report on Form 10-K for the fiscal year ended December 31, 2000, filed on March 29, 2001,
and incorporated herein by reference.

(9) Filed as an exhibit to Registrants Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q for the quarter ended March 31, 2001, filed on May 11, 2001, and
incorporated herein by reference.

(10) Filed as an exhibit to registrant’s Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q for the quarter ended June 30, 2001, filed on August 14, 2001, and
incorporated herein by reference.

(11) Filed as an exhibit to Registrants Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q for the quarter ended September 30, 2001, filed on November 14,
2001, and incorporated herein by reference.

{A) Confidential treatment has been granted with respect to certain portions of this exhibit pursuant to an Order Granting Application
Under the Securities Exchange Act of 1934 and Rule 24b-2 Thereunder Respecting Confidential Treatment dated August 24, 2000.

(B) Confidential treatment has been granted with respect to certain portions of this exhibit pursuant to an Order Granting Application
Under the Securities Exchange Act of 1934 and Rule 24b-2 Thereunder Respecting Confidential Tteatment dated November 14, 2001.

(C) Confidential treatment has been requested with respect to certain portions of this exhibit. Omitted portions have been filed separately
with the Securities and Exchange Commission.

(b) Reports on Form §-K

A report on Form 8-K was filed on October 30, 2001 with respect to the Company’s expected revenue of $65 million for the full year
2002.
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SIGNATURE

Pursuant to the requirements of Section 13 or 15(d) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, the Registrant has duly caused this report
to be signed on its behalf by the undersigned, thereunto duly authorized, on the 28 day of March, 2002.

GENE LOGIC INC.

By: /s/ MARK D. GESSI.ER
Mark D. Gessler
Chairman of the Board, Chief Executive Officer and President

Pursuant to the requirements of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, this report has been signed below by the following persons on
behalf of the Registrant and in the capacities and on the dates indicated.

Narme Position Date
/s/ MARK D. GESSLER Chairman of the Board, Chief Executive ~ March 28, 2002
(Mark D. Gessler) Officer and President
(Principal Excecutive Officer)
/s/ PHILIPI. ROHRER, JR. Chief Financial Officer March 28, 2002
(Philip L. Rohrer, Jr.) (Principal Financial and Aecounting Officer)
/s/ JULES BIL AKE Director March 28, 2002
(Jules Blake, Ph.D.)
/s/ MICHAEI ]. BRENNAN Director March 28, 2002
(Michael J. Brennan, M.D., Ph.D.)
/s/ CHARLES I DIMMIER, IIT Ditector March 28, 2002
(Charles L. Dimmler IIT)
[s/ G. ANTHONY GORRY Director March 28, 2002
(G. Anthony Gorry, Ph.D.)
[s/ J. STARK THOMPSON Director March 28, 2002

(. Stark Thompson, Ph.D.)
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Report of Independent Auditors

The Board of Directors and Shareholders
Gene Logic Inc.

We have audited the accompanying consolidated balance sheets of Gene Logic Inc. as of December 31,
2001 and 2000, and the related consolidated statements of operations, shareholders’ equity, and cash flows for
the years then ended. These financial statements are the responsibility of the Company’s management. Qur
responsibility is to express an opinion on these financial statements based on our audits.

We conducted our audits in accordance with auditing standards generally accepted in the United States.
Those standards require that we plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the
financial statements are free of material misstatement. An audit includes examining, on a test basis, evidence
supporting the amounts and disclosures in the financial statements. An audit also includes assessing the
accounting principles used and significant estimates made by management, as well as evaluating the overall
financial statement presentation. We believe that our audits provide a reasonable basis for our opinion.

In our opinion, the financial statements referred to above present fairly, in all material respects, the
consolidated financial position of Gene Logic Inc. at December 31, 2001 and 2000, and the consolidated
results of its operations and its cash flows for the years then ended in conformity with accounting principles
generally accepted in the United States.

As discussed in Note 1 to the consolidated financial statements, in 2000 the Company changed its
method of revenue recognition for certain nonrefundable up-front customer payments.

/s/ ERNST & YOUNG LLP

Baltimore, Maryland
February §, 2002

Report of independent public accountants

To the Board of Directors and Stockholders of
Gene Logic Inc. and Subsidiary:

We have audited the accompanying consolidated statements of operations, stockholders’ equity and cash
flows of Gene Logic Inc. (a Delaware corporation) and subsidiary for the year ended December 31, 1999.
These financial statements are the responsibility of the Company’s management. Our responsibility is to
express an opinion on these financial statements based on our audit.

We conducted our audit in accordance with auditing standards generally accepted in the United States.
Those standards require that we plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the
financial statements are free of material misstatement. An audit includes examining, on a test basis, evidence
supporting the amounts and disclosures in the financial statements. An audit also includes assessing the
accounting principles used and significant estimates made by management, as well as evaluating the overall
financial statement presentation. We believe that our audit provides a reasonable basis for our opinion.

In our opinion, the financial statements referred to above present fairly, in all material respects, the
results of operations and cash flows of Gene Logic Inc. and subsidiary for the year ended December 31, 1999
in conformity with accounting principles generally accepted in the United States.

/s/ ARTHUR ANDERSEN LLP

Baltimore, Maryland
February 22, 2000
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Gene Logic Inc.

Consolidated Balance Sheets
as of December 31, 2081 and 2666
(in thousznds, except share data)

2001 2000
ASSETS
Current assets:
Cash and cash equivalents. . .........co ittt it $ 128,273 $ 229,482
Marketable securities available-for-sale ................... ... .. ... ... ... 69,545 —_
Accounts receivable .. ... . e 2,460 2,968 :
TVENIOTIES, BT . o vttt ittt ettt e e e e e 6,097 2,396 ‘|
Prepaid EXPEMSES . . ottt e e 2,348 2,436
Other CUITENE ASSETS . . v\ttt ettt et et ittt et et 3,512 6,382 1
Total CUITENT ASSELS « v . v v vt ettt ettt e e e e e e e et 212,235 243,664 '
Property and equipment, net ... ... ...ttt e 18,358 15,994
Long-term INVESIMENLS .. ..t \' vttt e ettt eee e eee et iie e tieeiee e 4,631 9,081
Notes receivable from employees . ......... .. .. oL, e 106 75
GoodWIll, met. .. o e e e e 2,677 4,201
Intangibles and other assets, Net. . ..... ... uiuneeenintin e, 18,920 16,518
TOtaAl ASSEES v v v vttt et e e e $ 256,927 $ 289,533
LIABILITIES AND STOCKHOLDERS’ EQUITY !
Current liabilities:
ACCoUNts Payable . . ... .. e $ 8479 $ 5908
Litigation settlement payable ........ ... ... . . iiiiiiiii i — 9,000
ACCTUEA EXPENSES .« v v ittt ettt e it 5,022 9,028
Current portion of long-term debt ........... ... ... i oL 38 1,335
Deferred reVeNUE . ..ottt it e e e e e 11,512 7,093
Total current liabilities. .. ... ... oot e 25,051 32,364
Peferred Tevenmue . ..o e e 4,525 1,141
Long-term debt. .. ...t e e 300 1,631
Other noncurrent liabilities . ... .ot e 1,024 682
Total Habilities ... ..ottt e e e e e e e 30,900 35,818

Commitments and contingencies
Stockholders’ equity:
Preferred stock, $.01 par value; 10,000,000 shares authorized; and no shares
issued and outstanding as of December 31, 2001 and 2000 ............... — —
Common stock, $.01 par value; 60,000,000 shares authorized; and 26,767,837
and 26,111,561 shares issued and outstanding as of December 31, 2001

and 2000, respectively . ... ... ... e 268 261
Additional paid-in capital ........ ... . ... 361,067 356,347
Deferred compensation on stock options, net ............ ... ... — (733)
Accumulated other comprehensive income . ........... ... ... 0 .t 17 —
Accumulated deficit . ... ... e (135,325) (102,155)

Total stockholders’ equity .. .. ...t i 226,027 253,715
Total liabilities and stockholders’ equity ......... ... ... ...t $ 256,927 $ 289,533

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements.
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Gene Logic Ine.
Conmsolidated Statements of Operations
for the Years Ended December 31, 2001, 2000 and 1999
(in thousands, except per share data)
2001 2000 1999
ReVenUe . .. $ 43,328 $ 26,883 $ 19,202
Expenses:
Research and development .......... ... .. ... ... . .. 59,029 44,014 29,570
Selling, general and administrative . ............ ... ... L. 19,323 17,770 9,194
Amortization of goodwill . ....... ... ... . ... 1,524 1,524 1,524
Total EXPEMSES . « o« o vttt e 79,876 63,308 40,288
Loss from operations .............iiiiineenneeiinnennenn.. (36,548) (36,425) (21,086)
Interest income, Nt .. ...ttt e 8,645 13,706 685
Other iMCOMIE ..ottt e e i e e e 83 234 30
Write-down of Neuralstem investment ............................ 2,495 — —
Income tax eXPense ... .....oovtitn e 533 210 220
Net loss before equity in net loss of unconsolidated investees and
cumulative effect of change in accounting principle............ (30,848)  (22,695) (20,591)
Equity in net loss of unconsolidated investees....................... 2,322 — —
Loss before cumulative effect of change in accounting principle . .. (33,170)  (22,695) (20,591)
Cumulative effect of change in accounting principle ............. — 1,322 —
Nt 1088 o oottt et e e $(33,170) $(24,017) $(20,591)
Basic and diluted net loss per common share:
Loss before cumulative effect of change in accounting principle ... $§ (1.25) § (090) $§ (1.04)
Cumulative effect of change in accounting principle ............. — (0.05) —
N BT LO8S « o vttt i et $ (1.25) $§ (095) $ (1.04)
Shares used in computing basic and diluted net loss per common share . . 26,540 25,209 19,833

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements.




Gene Logic Inc.

Consolidated Statements of Steckholders’ Equity
for the Years Ended December 31, 1999, 2000 and 2001
(in thousands, except number of shares)

Stockholders’ Equity

Comman Stock . Accumulated
_OmTRT Ot R  Additional Other
Number Par Paid-In Deferred Comprehensive Accumulated Comprehensive
of Shares Value Capital  Compensation Income (Loss) Deficit Loss

Balance at January 1, 1999.............. 19,651,756 $197 $102,670 $(3,986) $(46) $ (57,547)
Issuance of common stock in connection

with exercise of stock options.......... 249,860 2 498 —_ — —_
Issuance of common stock in connection

with Employee Stock Purchase Plan. ... 62,766 1 269 — — —
Issuance of common stock in connection

with exercise of warrants. ............. 41,306 —_ — — — — i
Issuance of stock options to consultants . .. — — 60 — — —
Net change in unrealized losses from

marketable securities . ................ — — — — 43 — $ 43
Amortization of deferred compensation ... — — — 1,498 — —
Netloss. ..o — — — — — (20,591} (20,591)
Comprehensive loss ...............un - = — — = — $(20,548)
Balance at December 31,1999 ........... 20,005,688 200 103,497 (2,488) (3) (78,138)
Issuance of common stock in connection

with exercise of stock options.......... 1,163,240 11 4,633 — — —
Issuance of common stock in connection

with Employee Stock Purchase Plan. . .. 159,875 2 647 — — —
Issuance of common stock in connection

with exercise of warrants.............. 102,758 1 1) — — —
Issuance of common stock in connection

with secondary offering, net of issuance

COSES ottt e i e 4,680,000 47 247,410 — —_ —
Issuance of stock options to consultants . .. — — 732 — — —
Net change in unrealized losses from

marketable securities . ................ — — — — 3 — $ 3
Write-off of forfeited stock options ....... — —_ (571) 571 — —
Amortization of deferred compensation . .. — — — 1,179 — —
Netloss. oo v e — — — — — (24,017) (24,017)
Comprehensive loss .................... - - — — = — $(24,014)
Balance at December 31,2000 .......... 26,111,561 261 356,347 (738) — (102,155)
Issuance of common stock in connection ‘

with exercise of stock options.......... 515,857 6 2,222 — — —
Issuance of common stock in connection

with Employee Stock Purchase Plan. . .. 111213 1 1,838 — — —
Issuance of common stock in connection

with exercise of a warrant............. 29,206 — 533 — — —
Net change in unrealized gains from

marketable securities . ................ — — — — 17 — $ 17
Acceleration of stock options ............ —_ — 127 — — —
Amortization of deferred compensation ... — — — 738 — —
Netloss. . ..ot —_ — — — — (33,170) (33,170)
Comprehensive loss . ................... - = — — = — $(33,153)
Balance at December 31, 2001 .......... 26,767,837 $268 $361,067 § - $ 17 $(135,325)

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements.
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Gene Logic Inc.

Consolidated Statements of Cash Flows
for the Years Ended December 31, 2001, 2000 and 1999
(in thousands)

2001 2000 1999
Cash Flows From Operating Activities:
Nt 1088 . o ottt e e $ (33,170) $(24,017) $(20,591)
Adjustments to reconcile net loss to net cash flows from operating activities:
Depreciation and amortization .............teuiinr e 11,034 6,812 3,391
Amortization of goodwill .. ... . . . e 1,524 1,524 1,524
Amortization of deferred compensation ........ ... ... . i i 738 1,179 1,498
Net loss from investment in unconsolidated investees ............... ... oo, 2,322 — —
Write-down of Neuralstem investment . ... .....c.uiiinitrin ittt 2,495 — —
Other non-cash eXpense .. .. ...ttt e 127 732 60
Loss on disposal of property and equipment ...........cooiiiiiiiiiiii i 45 52 —
Changes in Operating Assets and Liabilities:
Accounts receivable ....... e 745 581 230
0RO (3,802) (560) (1,634)
Prepaid EXpenses. .. ..o e e 189 (1,715) (81)
Other CUITENTt @SSELS . . ..ttt it e e et e 2,209 (5,889) (417)
OB B88E S . L . oottt s (53) (61) (14)
Accounts payable . ... ... 2,572 1,402 2,383
Litigation settlement payable ... ... ... . . . . e (9,000) 9,000 —
ACCIUEA BXPEIISES .+ . v et ettt e ettt e e e e e e e e (3,712) 6,269 (204)
Accrued restrUCtUTING . . . ..ottt ittt et e — — (184)
Deferred revenue . ... .. e 8,235 2,562 1,453
Other noncurrent liabilities ... ... . i i 342 111 87
Net Cash Flows From Operating ACHVILIES . ... ....uttnniiin e (17,160) (2,018)  (12,499)
Cash Flows From Investing Activities:
Purchases of property and equipment . ......... . .ttt e (8,349) (9,685) (3,229)
Purchase of equity investments . .. ... i e (753) (8,081) —
Purchases of licenses and patent Costs .. ..., it i (995) (7,194) (670)
Software and database development costs ....... ... .. ... . L i (6,367) (8,066) (1,158)
(Increase in) repayments of notes receivable from employees .................. ... ... (30) 663 (778)
Purchase of marketable securities available-for-sale............. .. ... . ... ... ... (69,528) — —
Proceeds from sale and maturity of marketable securities available-for-sale................ — 7,155 7,682
Net Cash Flows From Investing Activities ....... .. ... ... i i, (86,022)  (25,208) 1,847
Cash Flows From Financing Activities:
Proceeds from issuance of common stock in public offering . ............ ... ... . o oo — 262,080 —
Issuance costs of publicoffering . . ... .o — (14,623) —
Proceeds from issuance of other common StOCK .. ...ttt i i 4,067 5,293 770
Proceeds from exercise of WaITant . ... .......uuuut i 534 — —
Proceeds from note payable...... ... .. — — 425
Repayments of financing agreement . . ... ...ttt — — (98)
Repayments of capital lease obligations and equipment loans. . .......................... (2,628) (1,336) (1,342)
Net Cash Flows From Financing Activities .............uiiiiiiniiniiinnenena... 1,973 251,414 (245)
Net (Decrease) Increase in Cash and Cash Equivalents ....................... oot (101,209) 224,188 (10,897)
Cash and Cash Equivalents, beginning of period ...... ... ... ... .. ... ool 229,482 5,294 16,191
Cash and Cash Equivalents, end of period ........ ... ... i $ 128273 $229482 $ 5294
Supplemental Disclosure:
TaXES PAIA . . ottt e $ 463 § 210 220
Interest paid ... ... i $ 153 ¢ 408 $ 415
Non-Cash Transactions:
Promissory note received from sale of investment ......... ... ... .. ... oo $ 2654 § — % —
EqUity INVESTMENTS « o oottt e it e e $ 871 3 — $ 1,000
Equipment acquired under capital 1€@se ... ..... ..\ttt e $ — 3 — $ 300
Capital 1ease termINAtION . . . vt v 't vttt et e et e e ettt et e e e $ — $ 288 % —

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements.
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Gene Logic Ine.

Notes to Consolidated Financial Statememnts
December 31, 2001, 2000 and 1999
(in thousands, except per share data)

Note I — Organization and Summary of Significant Accounting Policies

Organization and Business

Gene Logic Inc. (the “Company”) was incorporated in Delaware on September 22, 1994. The Company
is a provider of integrated genomics-based information products, services and biocinformatics related to gene
activity in human disease and toxicity that enable global pharmaceutical and biotechnology companies to
optimize the time, risk and cost of drug discovery and development. Through its expertise in biosamples, high-
throughput genomics technologies and data management and software development, the Company has
developed a broad line of genomic information products and services based on its core database product,
GeneExpress.

Principles of Consolidation

The consolidated financial statements for the years ended December 31, 2001, 2000 and 1999 include the
accounts of Gene Logic Inc. and its wholly owned subsidiary, Gene Logic Acquisition Corp. The Company
and its wholly owned subsidiary were merged in the fourth quarter of 2001. All material intercompany
accounts and transactions have been eliminated in consolidation.

Use of Estimates

The preparation of financial statements in conformity with accounting principles generally accepted in the
United States requires management to make estimates and assumptions that affect the reported amounts of
assets, liabilities, revenue and expenses in the financial statements and in the disclosures of contingent assets
and liabilities. While actual results could differ from those estimates, management believes that actual results
will not be materially different from amounts provided in the accompanying financial statements.

Comprehensive Loss

The Company accounts for comprehensive loss as prescribed by Statement of Financial Accounting
Standards No. 130, “Reporting Comprehensive Income”. Comprehensive income (loss) is the total net
income (loss) plus all changes in equity during the period except those changes resulting from investment by
owners and distribution to owners. Total comprehensive loss was $33.2 million, $24.0 million and $20.5 million
for the years ended December 31, 2001, 2000 and 1999, respectively.

Concentration of Credit Risk

Cash, cash equivalents and marketable securities available-for-sale are financial instruments that
potentially subject the Company to concentrations of credit risk. The estimated fair value of financial
instruments approximates the carrying value based on available market information. The Company primarily
invests its excess available funds in corporate commercial paper and notes and bills issued by the U.S.
government and its agencies and, by policy, seeks to ensure both liquidity and safety of principal. The policy
also limits investments to certain types of instruments issued by institutions with strong investment grade
credit ratings and places restrictions on their terms, geographic origin and concentrations by type and issuer.




Gene Logic Inc.

Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements — (Continued)
December 31, 2001, 2000 and 1999
(in thousands, except per share data)

Note 1 — Organization and Summary of Significant Accounting Pelicies — (Continued)

Cash and Cash Equivalents

Cash and cash equivalents are defined as liquid investments with maturities of 90 days or less when
purchased that are readily convertible into cash. All other investments are reported as marketable securities
available-for-sale. Cash and cash equivalents as of December 31, 2001 and 2000, are comprised of:

2001 2000
Cash. .. $ 3677 $ 2468
Corporate commercial paper............. ... ... 116,607 227,014
Government agency SeCUritieS. .. oo v iin s 7,989 —
Total. ... $128,273  $229,482

Marketable Securities Available-for-Sale

All marketable securities are classified as available-for-sale. Available-for-sale securities are carried at
fair value, with unrealized gains and losses reported as a separate component of stockholders’ equity. Realized
gains and losses and declines in value judged to be other than temporary for available-for-sale securities are
included in other income (expense). The cost of securities sold is based on the specific identification method.

As of December 31, 2001, the Company’s investment portfolio consisted of corporate commercial paper
and U.S. government notes and bills. All marketable securities had maturities greater than 90 days, but less
than one year. As of December 31, 2001, all of the Company’s investments were classified as current as the
Company may not hold its investments until maturity in order to take advantage of market conditions.

Gross
Amortized Unrealized
Cost Gains Fair Value
Corporate commercial paper...................... $35,036 $8 $35,044
Government securities . .. ... i 34,492 9 34,501
Total ... $69,528 $17 $69,545
Inventories

Inventories are stated at the lower of cost or market. Cost is determined using the first-in, first-out
method for microarrays and laboratory reagents and the average cost basis for tissue samples. All inventories
are reviewed for impairment and appropriate reserves are recorded. At December 31, 2001 and 2000, all
inventory is classified as raw materials:

2001 2000
Affymetrix GeneChip® microarrays .. ..., $2,370 § 795
Laboratory reagents ......... ..ot 990 10t
Tissue samples . ... e 2,971 1,500

6,331 2,396
Less — tissue sample TESEIVE ... ..ottt i, (234) —
INVENTOTIES, NEL . . ottt et et e e e e e e e e e $6,097 $2,396




Gene Logic Ine.

Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements — (Continued)
December 31, 2001, 2000 and 1999
(in thousands, except per share data)

Note 1| — Organization and Summary of Sigrificant Accounting Peolicies — (Continued)

Property and Equipment

Property and equipment is carried at cost, less accumulated depreciation and amortization. Depreciation
and amortization is recorded using the straight-line method over the estimated useful lives of the assets as
follows:

Fumniture ........... ... oo it 3 - 10 years

Computer and office equipment ......... 1 -5 years

Laboratory equipment ................. 1 -5 years

Leasehold improvements ............... Lesser of the lease term or the useful life

Long-Term Investments

The Company has made equity investments in companies whose businesses may be complementary to
the Company’s business. Investments in which the Company has the ability to exercise significant influence
over the investee, but less than a controlling voting interest, are accounted for under the equity method of
accounting. Under the equity method of accounting, the Company’s share of the investee’s earnings or losses
are included in operations to the extent the Company has an investment in the investee recorded as an asset
(see Notes 3 and 4 relating to Neuralstem, Inc. (“Neuralstem”) and MetriGenix, Inc. (“MetriGenix”),
respectively). The Company accounts for its other investments under the cost method of accounting, as the
Company holds less than 20% of the voting stock outstanding under such arrangements and does not exert
significant influence over these companies.

Under an agreement with Avalon Pharmaceuticals, Inc. (“Avalon”), the Company received convertible
preferred stock in 1999. The Company accounts for this investment under the cost method of accounting, as
the Company holds less than 10% of Avalon’s voting stock outstanding and does not exert significant influence
over Avalon.

Goodwill

Goodwill, from the acquisition of Oncormed, Inc. in 1998, represents the excess of the purchase price
over the fair market value of the net assets acquired. Goodwill is being amortized over five years at a rate of
approximately $1.5 million per year. Amortization expense was $1.5 million for each of the years ended
December 31, 2001, 2000 and 1999. Accumulated amortization of goodwill was $5.0 million and $3.4 miilion
as of December 31, 2001 and 2000, respectively.

The Company adopted the provisions of Financial Accounting Standards Board Statement No. 142,
“Goodwill and Other Intangible Assets” (“SFAS 142”) effective January 1, 2002. Based on the initial
impairment test performed as of January 1, 2002, adoption of this standard resulted in no impairment to the
value of goodwill in the Company’s financial statements.

Intangibles and Other Assets

Intangibles and other assets consist primarily of licenses, patent costs and software and database
development costs.

The Company has licensed from third parties the proprietary rights and technical information covered by
various patents and patent applications. These licenses will continue for the term of the agreement or the life
of the respective patent, whichever is shorter. License costs are being amortized over their expected useful
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Gene Logic Inc.

Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements — (Continued)
December 31, 2001, 2000 and 1999
(in thousands, except per share data)

Note 1 — Organization and Summary of Significant Accounting Policies — (Comntinued )

lives, but not greater than the term of the agreement or the life of the respective patent. Certain agreements
call for the payment of royalties and maintenance fees.

Patent costs include issued patents and patent applications and are stated at cost. Amortization of issued
patent costs is recorded using the straight-line method over the shorter of their expected useful life or the legal
lives of the patents, generally for periods ranging up to 20 years.

In accordance with the provisions of the Financial Accounting Standards Board Statement No. 86,
“Accounting for the Costs of Computer Software to be Sold, Leased or Otherwise Marketed,” the Company
has capitalized certain software development costs incurred in developing certain products upon the
demonstration of technological feasibility. Software development costs are being amortized over their
expected useful life of three years upon release of the software or upgrades.

Database development costs are being amortized over their expected useful lives ranging from two to
three years upon release of the update.

Impairment of Long-Lived Assets

Long-lived assets, consisting principally of property and equipment, long-term investments and intangible
assets, including licenses, patent costs, goodwill and software and database development costs, are evaluated
for possible impairment through a review of undiscounted expected future cash flows. If an impairment loss is
indicated, the Company will measure the amount of the impairment by comparing the carrying value of the
asset to the present value of the expected future cash flows associated with the use of the asset.

Research and Development

Research and development costs are charged to operations when incurred or acquired.

Revenue Recognition

Subscription fees to GeneExpress products are recognized systematically over the term of the subscrip-
tion agreement. Revenue for software arrangements is recognized in accordance with AICPA Statement of
Position 97-2, “Software Revenue Recognition.” Technology and database access fees are recognized
systematically over the term of the Company’s customer agreements. Revenue from research and develop-
ment support is recognized when it is earned, which is ordinarily when the work is performed or costs are
incurred. Milestone payments are recognized as revenue in accordance with the applicable performance
requirements and contractual terms. Nonrefundable up-front payments are recognized as revenue systemati-
cally over the term of the agreement. Under agreements in which the Company creates databases in exchange
for fixed fees, revenue from such agreements is recognized on the percentage-of-completion method.

Revenue recognized for multiple element contracts are allocated to each element of the arrangement
based on the relative fair value of the element. The determination of fair value of each element is based on the
Company’s analysis of objective evidence from comparable historical sales of the individual element to
customers. If such evidence of fair value for any element of the arrangement does not exist, revenue from such
element is deferred until such time that evidence of fair value does exist or is recognized systematically over
the longest performance period of the remaining elements.
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Gene Logic Inc.

Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements — (Continued)
December 31, 2001, 2000 and 1999
(in thousands, except per share data)

Note 1 — Organization and Summary of Significant Accounting Policies — (Continued)

Segment Information

The Company currently operates in one business segment — the development of products related to
genomic information. The Company is managed and operated as one business. Accordingly, the Company
does not prepare financial information for separate product areas and does not have separate reportable
segments as defined by Statement of Financial Accounting Standards No. 131, “Disclosure about Segments of
an Enterprise and Related Information.”

The following is a breakdown of revenue by major customers exceeding ten percent (10%) of such
revenue:

Major Customers

A B £ b
For the year ended:
December 31,2001 .. ... ... . — 11% 16% —
December 31,2000 . ... ... ot 32% 18% — —_
December 31, 1999 ... ... . 3% 25% — 12%

Change in Accounting Method

Effective January 1, 2000, the Company changed its method of accounting for revenue in accordance
with SEC Staff Accounting Bulletin No. 101, “Revenue Recognition in Financial Statements.” Prior to 2000,
the Company recognized as revenue certain nonrefundable up-front payments for the value of data purchased,
transfer of technology or other contractual rights that were not contingent upon future performance under the
terms of the agreement upon signing of the agreement or when collected. Under the new accounting method
adopted retroactive to January 1, 2000, the Company now defers these nonrefundable up-front payments and
recognizes them as revenue systematically over the life of the related collaboration agreements. The
cumulative effect of the change on prior years resulted in a charge of $1.3 million, which is included in the net
loss for the year ended December 31, 2000. The effect of the change on the year ended December 31, 2001
and 2000, was to increase revenue and decrease net loss before the cumulative effect of the accounting change
by $0.3 million ($0.02 per share) and $0.8 million ($0.03 per share), respectively.

Assuming the accounting change was made retroactively to prior periods, for the year ended Decem-
ber 31, 1999, the pro forma amounts for revenue and net loss were $20.0 million and $19.8 million,
respectively. The pro forma basic and diluted net loss per common share would have been $1.00 for the same
period.

Income Taxes

The Company accounts for income taxes under the provisions of Statement of Financial Accounting
Standards No. 109, “Accounting for Income Taxes” (“SFAS 109”). Under the asset and liability method of
SFAS 109, deferred tax assets and liabilities are recognized for the future tax consequences attributable to
differences between the financial statement carrying amounts of existing assets and liabilities and their
respective tax bases and net operating loss and tax credit carryforwards. Deferred tax assets and liabilities are
measured using enacted tax rates expected to apply to taxable income in the years in which those temporary
differences are expected to be recovered or settled. Under SFAS 109, the effect on deferred tax assets and
liabilities of a change in tax rates is recognized in operations in the period that includes the enactment date.
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Gene Logic Inc.

Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements — (Continuaed)
December 31, 2001, 2000 and 1999
(in thousands, except per share data)

Note 1 — Qrganization and Summary of Significant Accounting Policies — (Continued)

Basic and Diluted Net Loss Per Common Share

Net loss per common share is computed using the weighted average number of shares of common stock
outstanding. Common equivalent shares from all outstanding stock options and warrants are excluded from the
computation, as their effect is antidilutive.

Stock Option Plans

Prior to January 1, 1996, the Company’s policy was to account for its stock option plans in accordance
with the provisions of Accounting Principles Board Opinion No. 25, “Accounting for Stock Issued to
Employees™ (“APB 25), and related interpretations. As such, compensation expense is recorded on the date
of grant only if the current fair value of the underlying stock exceeds the exercise price. On January 1, 1996,
the Company adopted Statement of Financial Accounting Standards No. 123, “Accounting for Stock-Based
Compensation” (“SFAS 123), which permits entities to recognize as expense over the vesting period the fair
value of all stock-based awards on the date of grant. Alternatively, SFAS 123 also allows entities to continue
to apply the provisions of APB 25 and provide pro forma net earnings and pro forma earnings per share
disclosures for employee stock option grants made in 1995 and future years as if the fair-value based method
defined in SFAS 123 had been applied. The Company elected to continue to apply the provisions of APB 25
and provide the pro forma disclosure provisions of SFAS 123. The Company uses the Black-Scholes option
pricing model to estimate the fair value of options and warrants granted.

Reclassifications

Certain reclassifications have been made to the prior years’ financial statements to conform with the
current year presentation.

New Accounting Pronouncements

In June 2001, the Financial Accounting Standards Board issued SFAS 142, which is effective for fiscal
years beginning after December 15, 2001. Under the new standard, goodwill will no longer be amortized, but
will be subject to annual impairment tests in accordance with the Statement. Application of the nonamortiza-
tion provisions of the Statement will result in a decrease in amortization expenses and net loss of $1.5 million
per year. Other intangible assets will continue to be amortized over their expected useful lives and reviewed for
impairment.

On January 1, 2001, the Company adopted Statement of Financial Accounting Standards No. 133,
“Accounting for Derivative Instruments and Hedging Activities” (“SFAS 1337), as amended by SFAS 137
and 138. SFAS 133 requires all derivatives to be recorded at fair value. Unless designated as hedges, changes
in these fair values will be recorded in the income statement. Fair value changes involving hedges will
generally be recorded by offsetting gains and losses on the hedge and on the hedged item, even if the fair value
of the hedged item is not otherwise recorded. Adoption of this standard had no impact on the Company’s
financial statements.

In August 2001, the Financial Accounting Standards Board issued Statement of Financial Accounting
Standards No. 144, “Accounting for the Impairment or Disposal of Long-Lived Assets” (“SFAS 144").
SFAS 144 addresses the financial accounting and reporting for the impairment or disposal of long-lived assets.
SFAS 144 supersedes SFAS 121 but retains the fundamental provisions of SFAS 121 for
(i) recognition/measurement of impairment of long-lived assets to be held and used and (i) measurement of
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Gene Logic Inc,

Notes to Consolidated Financial Statememnts — (Continued)
December 31, 2001, 2000 and 1999
(in thousands, except per share data)

Note 1 — Organization and Summary of Significant Accounting Policies — (Continued)

long-lived assets to be disposed of by sale. SFAS 144 also supersedes the accounting and reporting provisions
of Accounting Principles Board Opinion No. 30, “Reporting the Results of Operations — Reporting the
Effects of Disposal of a Segment of a Business, and Extraordinary, Unusual and Infrequently Occurring
Events and Transactions” (“APB 30”), for segments of a business to be disposed of but retains APB 30’s
requirement to report discontinued operations separately from continuing operations and extends that
reporting to a component of an entity that either has been disposed of or is classified as held for sale. The
Company adopted the provisions of SFAS 144 effective January 1, 2002, which had no material impact on the
Company’s financial statements.

Note 2 — Property and Equipment
Property and equipment includes the following as of December 31, 2001 and 2000:

2001 2000
U U « ottt ettt ittt st et s $ 1,495 § 1,024
Computer and office equipment .............. ... ... L. 12,675 9,535
Laboratory equipment ... .......couiiiiiiieinneenneennn 9,085 8,802
Leasehold improvements .. ......... ... ... ciuiiiiiienen... 8,137 5,349

31,392 24,710
Less — accumulated depreciation and amortization............ (13,034) (8,716)
Property and equipment, net............cooveereiiiiinaaan $ 18,358 $ 15,994

Depreciation expense was $5.4 million, $3.9 million and $3.2 million for the years ended December 31,
2001, 2000 and 1999, respectively. Capitalized interest in relation to leasehold improvements was $0.1 million
for the year ended December 31, 2001.

Note 3 — Investment in Neuralstem

During 2000, the Company purchased a 26.7% voting stock interest in Neuralstem, a privately held
unconsolidated investee. The investment was accounted for under the equity method of accounting. Through
April 30, 2001, the Company recorded its equity share of losses of Neuralstem and intercompany transactions
were eliminated in the accompanying financial statements. Effective April 30, 2001, following a repurchase of
shares by Neuralstem which reduced the Company’s voting stock interest to 14.8%, the Company began
accounting for its investment in Neuralstem under the cost method of accounting and the financial statements
do not reflect any additional share of Neuralstem’s losses or elimination of intercompany sales and expenses
after such date. Neuralstem repurchased the shares for approximately $2.7 million, payable pursuant to a
promissory note. No gain or loss was recognized for this transaction. The Company’s equity share of losses of
Neuralstem was $1.5 million through April 30, 2001. During the fourth quarter of 2001, the Company
recorded a $2.5 million write-down of its investment to reflect Neuraistem’s estimated market value. At
December 31, 2001, following the write-down, the value of the Company’s investment, including the
promissory note, was $4.3 million.

Note 4 — Spin-Off of Assets to MetriGenix

During 2001, the Company completed a spin-off of its patented Flow-thru Chip™ technology to a newly
created subsidiary, MetriGenix. The Company contributed relevant intellectual property and know-how
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Gene Logic Inc.

Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements — (Continued)
December 31, 2001, 2000 and 1999
(in thousands, except per share data)

Note 4 — Spin-Off of Assets to MetriGenix — (Continued)

associated with the Flow-thru Chip technology, and transferred certain employees, to the new venture in
exchange for voting common stock. Concurrent with the spin-off, MetriGenix completed a private equity
financing of voting preferred stock, which reduced the Company’s voting ownership interest to 54% as of the
closing. The shareholders entered into an agreement which contains certain restrictions on transfer of
MetriGenix stock and provisions regarding certain matters of corporate governance, including provisions that
provide the investors with veto rights with respect to certain significant aspects of MetriGenix’s operations. As
a result, because the Company does not control MetriGenix, the Company accounts for its investment using
the equity method. During the year ended December 31, 2001, the Company recorded 100% of MetriGenix’s
losses up to the value of the Company’s contribution ($0.9 million). As the Company’s investment in
MetriGenix has been reduced to zero at December 31, 2001 and there is no commitment to provide future
funding, the Company does not expect to record additional losses related to this investment in the future. The
Company also entered into certain agreements with MetriGenix including a subscription to GeneExpress and
to provide certain administrative services and subleased space. No revenue was recorded related to the
subscription in 2001. For the year ended December 31, 2001, the Company received fees of $0.3 million for
reimbursement of costs associated with providing administrative services and subleased space. These fees will
continue as long as the Company provides such services and subleased space and are expected to approximate
$0.5 million in 2002.

Note 5 — Intangibles and Other Assets

Intangibles and other assets consist of the following as of December 31, 2001 and 2000:

2001 2000
LACOMSS . o v vt ettt $ 8,140 $ 7,573
Patent COStS . .. it e 2,541 1,988
Software development COStS . ........o.iveuriierinerninnn.. 11,578 5,378
Database development costs ........ ... i 4,013 3,846
Promissory note receivable ...... ... ... oL 1,389 —
£ 7 1 =) o P 51 113

27,712 18,898
Less — accumulated amortization ..............c.ccoviniin... (8,792) (2,380)
Intangibles and other assets, net..................c.c.cvurn. . $18,920 $16,518

Amortization expense was $5.6 million, $2.9 million and $0.2 million for the years ended December 31,
2001, 2000 and 1999, respectively. Capitalized interest in relation to software development costs was
$0.2 million for the year ended December 31, 2001.
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Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements — (Continued)
December 31, 2001, 2000 and 1999
(in thousands, except per share data)

Note 6 — Accrued Expenses

Accrued expenses consist of the following as of December 31, 2001 and 2000:

2001 2000
Property additions. .. ... .......oooeert et $ 378 $2,857 !
Professional fees .. ........ i e 841 1,105
Payroll, taxes and benefits .. ......... .. ... . i i 3,604 4910
Consulting fees . ... .o i i i e e 199 156
ACCTUEd EXPEISES . ..ot e $5,022  $9,028
Note 7 — Long-Term Debt |
Long-term debt at December 31, 2001 and 2000, consists of the following: i
2001 2000
Equipment loans:
Variable rate equipment loan ........... ... . ... ..., $ — $ 2382
9.0% equipment loan .......... ... . ... i — 210
Other . o e e 338 374
338 2,966
Less — current portion. .. ..ottt (38) (1,335)
Long-term debt...........oo i i $ 300 §$ 1,631

As of December 31, 2001, principal payments on long-term debt are as follows:

Year ending December 31,

200 e $ 38
2003 e 40
2004 . 42
20005 e 44
2006 .. e 47
2007 and thereafter. ... ... i 127

$338

During 2001, the Company paid in full two outstanding equipment loans, including a prepayment of
$1.9 million. As of December 31, 2001, the remaining loan is being repaid in equal quarterly installments
through June 2009.

Interest expense was $0.2 million, $0.4 million and $0.4 million for the years ended December 31, 2001,
2000 and 1999, respectively.

Note 8 — Stockholders’ Equity

On February 1, 2000, the Company completed a follow-on public offering of its common stock at $56.00
per share. The Company sold 4,680,000 shares, including the underwriters’ over-allotment option. Net
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Note 8 — Stockholders’ Equity — (Continued)

proceeds to the Company, after deducting the underwriting discounts and commissions and offering expenses,
were approximately $247.5 million.

Note $ — Business Agreements

As of December 31, 2001, the Company’s business portfolio consisted of agreements with pharmaceutical
and biotechnology companies utilizing the Company’s genomic information products and services, which
include 18 subscription agreements for access to the Company’s GeneExpress products, as well as an
aggregate of 11 agreements to license the Company’s Genesis software and related professional services, to
obtain reports on single-gene analysis from GeneExpress, to supply a proprietary gene expression database and
to build customized information products based on proprietary services. Some of these agreements are with
the same pharmaceutical and/or biotechnology company. Under GeneExpress product subscription agree-
ments, each subscriber has agreed to pay, during the term of the agreement, annual subscription fees to
receive non-exclusive access to selected GeneExpress database products. Genesis software agreements provide
the Company with license and ongoing maintenance fees, in addition to fees for professional services.
Agreements to purchase reports on single-gene. analysis provide the Company with fees on a pay-per-view
basis. The customized information product agreements provide the Company with research support. The
Company’s GeneExpress product agreements often require the Company to provide specific content updates.
In addition, the Company’s business agreements may provide the right for early termination without penalty to
the customer.

During December 2000, N.V. Organon terminated its Collaboration and License Agreement with the
Company. Under the agreement, the Company received the $2.0 million which was outstanding and
simultaneously purchased, for $2.0 million, an exclusive perpetual license to data that was developed under
this agreement. In addition, N.V. Organon entered into a multi-year GeneExpress database subscription in
October 2000.

Note 10 — Income Taxes

The actual income tax expense for the years ended December 31, 2001, 2000 and 1999, is different from
the amount computed by applying the statutory federal income tax rates to losses before income tax expense.
The reconciliation of these differences is as follows:

2001 2000 1999
Tax benefit at federal statutory rate ................ $(11,279) $(8,166) $(7,001)
State income taxes, net of federal income tax effect .. (1,527)  (1,105) (949)
Benefit from stock option compensation............. (1,723) (12,846) (391)
O her .o e 1,554 (145) 1,082
Net operating loss valuation adjustment............. — — {2,058)
Increase in valuation allowance ... ................. 13,508 22,472 9,537
INCOME taX EXPENSE . v v vt eeinnanns $ 533 0§ 210 §$ 220

F-16




Gene Logic Inc.

Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements — (Continued)
December 31, 2001, 2000 and 1999
(in thousands, except per share data)

. Note 10 — Income Taxes — {Continued)

The tax effect of cumulative temporary differences at December 31, 2001 and 2000, follows:

2001 2000
Deferred Tax Assets:
Tax carryforwards . . ... $ 63,946 $ 49,698
CoONtract TEVENUE ..\ttt ittt ettt et 1,748 1,511
Net loss in unconsolidated investee .. ..................... 1,809 —
AmOortization . ... .o oo e —_ 423
Accrued vacation .......... .. 410 297
Other ..o 760 550
68,673 52,479
Less — valuation allowance .. .............. ... ... ... . (65,128) (51,620)
Net deferred tax assets . ....ovvve e $ 3,545 % 859
Deferred Tax Liabilities: '
Capitalized software costs . ...........oviiieenennnns. $ 3257 § 490 '
Depreciation .........c.tiiiiniiii i 136 86
Other o 152 283
Net deferred tax habilities. . .. ... ... ... . i .. $ 3,545 $ 859

At December 31, 2001, Net Operating Loss carryforwards (“NOLs”) for income tax purposes were
approximately $157.7 million, including approximately $30.0 million related to Oncormed prior to the Merger.
The Company also has research and development tax credit carryforwards of approximately $3.0 million as of
December 31, 2001. The carryforwards, if not utilized, will expire in increments from 2008 through 2021.
Utilization of the net operating losses and credits may be subject to an annual limitation as provided by the
Internal Revenue Code of 1986, and there can be no guarantee that such NOLs will ever be fully utilized. As a
result of cumulative losses, the Company has recorded a full valuation allowance against its net deferred tax
assets as management believes it is more likely than not that the assets will not be realizable.

Note 11 — Commitments and Contingencies

Operating Leases

The Company conducts all of its operations from leased facilities in Gaithersburg, Maryland and
Berkeley, California under operating leases with varying terms expiring through 2010. These leases obligate
the Company to pay building operating costs and also contain renewal provisions.
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Note 11 — Commitments and Contingencies — (Comtinued)

Future minimum lease payments on these operating leases as of December 31, 2001, are as follows:

Year ending December 31,

2002 e e e $ 2,875
2003 L e 2,940
2004 . e e 2,812
20005 L e 2,735
2006 . e e e 2,806
2007 and thereafter . ... .. e 6,753

$20,921

Rent expense for the years ended December 31, 2001, 2000 and 1999, was $2.8 million, $2.1 million and
$1.8 million, respectively.

Purchase Commitments

The Company currently contracts with a third-party supplier, Affymetrix, to supply its GeneChip®
microarrays. Under this agreement, the Company is required to purchase at least $15.1 million in products and
services in 2002.

Contingencies

Clinical trials, manufacturing, marketing and sale of any of the Company’s customers’ potential
therapeutic or diagnostic products may expose the Company to liability claims from the use of such products.
The Company currently maintains professional liability insurance.

Litigation

The Company is not subject to any pending litigation.

Note 12 — 401(k) Retirement Plan

During 1996, the Company established the Gene Logic Inc. 401 (k) Retirement Plan (the “401 (k)
Plan”) for its employees under Section 401 (k) of the Internal Revenue Code. Under this plan, all employees
18 years of age or older and with at least one day of service with the Company are eligible, starting on the
calendar quarter, to contribute up to 15% of their combined salary and bonus. Employee contributions are
100% vested. The Company is not required to make any contributions to the 401(k) Plan and has not made
any contributions through December 31, 2001.

Note 13 — Stock Based Compensation

During 1996, the Company instituted a stock plan (the “Stock Plan™), which was amended and restated
in 1997, whereby the Company’s Compensation Committee of the Board of Directors (the “Committee™), at
its discretion, can grant options, award stock or provide opportunities to make direct purchases of stock to
employees, officers, directors and consultants of the Company and related corporations. The Stock Plan
authorizes the grant of options for up to 8,600,000 shares of common stock. At December 31, 2001, there were
646,077 shares reserved for issuance under the Stock Plan. During 1997, the Company adopted a Directors’
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Note 13 — Stock Based Compensation — (Continued)

stock plan (the “Directors’ Plan”) to provide for granting of options to non-employee directors of the
Company. The Directors’ Plan is administered by the Committee which is authorized to grant options of up to
325,000 shares of common stock. At December 31, 2001, there were 122,500 shares reserved for issuance
under the Directors’ Plan. Options are to be granted at the fair market value of the common stock at the grant
date. The options, awards and opportunities to purchase stock expire at the earlier of termination or the date
specified by the Commiitee at the date of grant, but not more than ten years. During 1997, the Company
adopted an Employee Stock Purchase Plan (the “Purchase Plan”) covering an aggregate of 500,000 shares of
common stock. The Purchase Plan allows employees to purchase common stock of the Company through
payroll deductions of up to a maximum of 15% of their combined salary and bonus, at 85% of the lesser of
either the market price of the shares at the time of purchase or the market price at the employees’ eligibility
date. At December 31, 2001, there were 138,856 shares reserved for issuance under the Purchase Plan.

The following is a rollforward of option activity for the years ended December 31, 2001, 2000 and 1999:

Shares Subject to
Outstanding Options

Shares Weighted
Available Average

For Grant Shares Exercise Price
Balance at January 1, 1999 .. ... ... i 2,111,285 2,885,136 $ 3.57
Additional authorization ......................... 1,200,000 — —
Options granted ...................ccoiiiiiinns (1,622,463) 1,622,463 $ 5.57
Options exercised . . .......... ... ... — (249,860) $ 2.01
Options cancelled .. ........ ... ... oo iin... 328,725 (328,725) $ 5.02
Balance at December 31, 1999 . ... . ... ... . ... ... 2,017,547 3,929,014 $ 441
Additional authorization ......................... 1,500,000 — —
Options granted ...........cooiiiiiiiiiineinn.. (2,466,560) 2,466,560 $46.82
Options exercised . . ........coviiinniinn.. —  (1,163,721) $ 4.02
Options cancelled . . ............ .. ... ... 694,087 (694,087) $19.66
Balance at December 31, 2000 ..................... 1,745,074 4,537,766 $25.16
Options granted .......... ... oo, (1,657,657) 1,657,657 $16.10
Options exercised . . ... ... — (515,857) $ 431
Options cancelled .. .............. ... .. ... ..... 681,160 (681,160) $40.46
Balance at December 31, 2001 ..................... 768,577 4,998,406 $22.23

Options to purchase a total of 2,961,240, 2,003,371 and 1,442,735 at December 31, 2001, 2000 and 1999,
respectively, were exercisable. The weighted-average grant-date fair value of options granted during the years
ended December 31, 2001, 2000 and 1999 was $8.43, $37.66 and $3.50, respectively.

During the year ended December 31, 1997, the Company granted options with exercise prices below fair
value. The Company recorded deferred compensation of $6.9 million at December 31, 1997, and compensa-
tion expense of $0.7 million, $1.2 million and $1.5 million for the years ended December 31, 2001, 2000 and
1999, respectively, related to these option grants.
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Note 13 — Stock Based Compensation — (Continued)

The following table summarizes information about stock options outstanding at December 31, 2001:

Options Cutstanding Options Exercisable
Weighted

Number Average Weighted Number Weighted
Qutstanding at  Remaining Average Exercisable at Average
Range of December 31, Contractual Exercise December 31, Exercise

Exercise Price 2001 Life Price 2001 Price
$0.15-84.13........... 766,284 6.3 Years $ 3.00 632,141 $ 2.80
$4.14-8%8.50........... 883,259 7.1 Years $ 5.35 605,042 $ 537
$8.51 -%$14.00.......... 890,704 9.4 Years $12.41 326,274 $12.30
$14.01 -$25.00......... 1,013,586 8.6 Years $19.97 488,538 $20.04
$25.01 -%50.00......... 665,161 8.3 Years $32.08 341,192 $32.75
$50.01 - $123.00........ 779,412 7.8 Years  $66.05 568,053 $64.90
$0.15-$123.00......... 4,998,406 8.0 Years  $22.23 2,961,240 $22.58

Had compensation cost for the Company’s stock-based compensation plans been determined based on
the fair value at the grant dates, consistent with the method of SFAS 123, the Company’s net loss and loss per
common share would have been changed to the pro forma amounts for the years ended December 31, 2001,
2000 and 1999 as indicated below:

2001 2060 1999
Net loss before cumulative effect of change in
accounting principle ........... .. ... $(58,253) $(59,298) $(22,852)
Cumulative effect of change in accounting principle — (1,322) —
NetloSS ..o $(58,253) $(60,620) $(22,852)
Basic and diluted net loss per common share:
Net loss before cumulative effect of change in
accounting principle ...... ... .. $ (2.19) § (235) § (1.15)
Cumulative effect of change in accounting
principle . . ... .. — (0.05) —
Net oSS v vt e $ (2.19) § (240) $ (L.15)

The fair value of each option grant is estimated on the date of grant using the Black-Scholes option
pricing model for the years ended December 31, 2001, 2000 and 1999, with the following assumptions:

2001 2000 1599
Expected volatility . ............ 76% 143% 98%
Risk-free interest rate .......... 2.99% to 4.69% 5.04% to 6.70% 4.57% to 6.97%
Expected lives ................ 3 years 3 years 1 - 3 years
Dividend rate . ................ 0% 0% 0%
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Note 14 — Related Party Transactions

During 1999, the Company issued promissory notes to three officers of the Company totaling $0.8 million
to offset tax liabilities for unrealized capital gains resulting from stock option exercises. In February 2000, two
of the notes aggregating $0.6 million plus accrued interest were paid in full.

In connection with the formation of MetriGenix, affiliates of two members of the Company’s Board of
Directors purchased an aggregate of 73.3% of MetriGenix’s preferred stock and the Company entered into
certain agreements with MetriGenix including a subscription to GeneExpress from which the Company
derived no revenue for the year ended December 31, 2001 and to provide certain administrative services and
subleased space (see Note 4). Fees charged to MetriGenix for administrative services and subleased space
totaled $0.3 million of the year ended December 31, 2001. In addition, certain officers and a director of the
Company purchased restricted shares of Common Stock of MetriGenix and the Company issued promissory
notes to four of these officers representing loans issued to them to fund payment for the shares.

Note 15 — Quarterly Results of Operations (Unaudited)

The following is a summary of the quarterly results of operations for the years ended December 31, 2001
and 2000 as restated for the cumulative effect of change in accounting principle as more fully described in
Note 1.

March 31 June 30 September 30  December 31

2001
Revenue. . ... . .. $ 8,211 $ 9,603 $11,547 $13,966
Net loss before equity in net loss of unconsolidated

INVESIEES . o\ttt et e (9,416) (9,102) (6,421) (5,912)
Equity in net loss of unconsolidated investees .......... 1,189 261 817 54
Net 0SS . vt $(10,605) $(9,363) $(7,238) $(5,966)

Basic and diluted net loss per common share:
Net loss before equity in net loss of unconsolidated

IVESTEES ... ittt e $ (0.36) $ (034) $ (0.24) $ (0.22)
Equity in net loss of unconsolidated investees .......... (0.05) (0.01) (0.03) —
Net 108S . vttt $ (040) § (0.35) § (0.27) $ (0.22)
2000
Revenue. . .. ..o $ 5328 $ 6,789 $ 5,394 $ 9,373
Net loss before cumulative effect of change in accounting

principle. .. ... (4,654) (4,812) (7,845) (5,385)
Cumulative effect of change in accounting principle . . . .. (1,322) — — —
Net oSS ..o vt $ (5976) $(4,812) §$(7,845) $(5,385)

Basic and diluted net loss per common share:
Net loss before cumulative effect of change in accounting

principle. . ... ... $ (020) $ (0.19) S (0.30) $ (0.21)
Cumulative effect of change in accounting principle . . . .. {0.06) — — —
Net 0SS . . oot e $ (0.25) $ (0.19) § (0.30) $ (0.21)
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SHAREHOLDER INFORMATION

ANNUAL MEETING

The Annual Meeting of Stockholders will be held at 3:00 p.m. (Eastern)
on Thursday, June 6, 2002 at the Company’s headquarters. Questions
concerning the meeting may be directed to Gene Logic’s Corporate
Communications Department at 1.800.GENELOGIC.

SEC FORM 10-K

The Company’s Annual Report on Form 10-K, as filed with the Securities
and Exchange Commission and contained herein, is available without charge
on the Company’s Web site (www.genelogic.com) or by request to Gene
Logic’s Corporate Communications Department at 1.800.GENELOGIC.

CORPORATE COMMUNICATIONS CONTACT

Robert G. Burrows, Director, Corporate Communications
Phone: 301.987.1824

Toll Free: 1.800.GENELOGIC (426.3564)

Fax: 301.987.1804

Email: rburrows@genelogic.com

CORPORATE HEADQUARTERS

708 Quince Orchard Road

Gaithersburg, MD 20878

Phone: 301.987.1700

Toll Free: 1.800.GENELOGIC (436.3564)
Fax: 301.987.1701

www.genelogic.com

TRANSFER AGENT

Mellon Investor Services LLC
Overpeck Center

85 Challenger Road

Ridgefield Park, NJ 07660
Toll Free: 1.800.356.2017
International: 1.201.329.8660
www.melloninvestor.com

OUTSIDE CORPORATE COUNSEL
Venable, Baetjer, Howard & Civiletti, LLP
Washington, DC

INDEPENDENT AUDITORS
Ernst & Young LLP
Baltimore, MD

TRADEMARKS

GeneExpress is a registered trademark of Gene Logic Inc. BioExpress,
ToxExpress and Genesis; The GeneExpress Enterprise System are trademarks
of Gene Logic Inc. GeneChip is a registered trademark of Affymetrix, Inc.
Flow-thru Chip is a trademark of MetriGenix, Inc. Gencarta is a trademark
of Compugen, Ltd.

NOTE TO INVESTORS

Statements in this annual report involve estimates, assumptions, and
uncertainties that could cause actual results to differ materially from
those expressed in this annual report. These risks and uncertainties include,
but are not limited to, the extent of utilization of genomic information by
the pharmaceutical and biotechnology industries in research and product
development, our ability to retain existing and obtain additional database
customers in a timely manner, risks relating to the development of genomic
database products and their use by existing and potential customers and
ultimate consumers, our reliance on Affymetrix, Inc. for GeneChip®
microarrays and other sole source suppliers, our ability to limit our fosses
and become profitable, our ability to timely supply customers with
customized and new products, continued access to necessary human and
animal tissue samples, the impact of technological advances and
competition, our ability to enforce our intellectual property rights, and the
impact of intellectual property rights of others, as well as other risks and
uncertainties included in our Annual Report on Form 10-K for the year
ended December 31, 2001 and our Quarterly Reports on Form 10-Q filed
with the Securities and Exchange Commission. This annual report will not
be updated as a result of new information or future events.

MARKET FOR THE REGISTRANT'S COMMON STOCK AND RELATED
SECURITY HOLDER MATTERS

The Company’s common stock is traded on The Nasdag Stock Market® under
the symbol GLGC. The abbreviation often used in regional newspaper stock
listings is “Genlgc.”

At March 1, 2002, there were 26,870,709 shares of common stock held by
over 18,500 beneficial stockholders. To date, the Company has not paid any
cash dividends on its Common Stock and does not anticipate paying any
dividends for the foreseeable future.

QUARTERLY STOCK CLOSING PRICES

The following table sets forth, for the periods indicated, the range of
“high” and “low’ closing prices for each fiscal quarter of the Company
during 2001 and 2000 as reported by The Nasdag Stock Market®.

_2001 2000

HIGH Low HIGH Low

First Quarter $ 2513 $ 1419 §$ 144.63 $ 24.75

Second Quarter 26.05 1498 4625 18.44

Third Quarter 21.30 11.14 35.50 16.56

Fourth Quarter 20.80 12.40 25.81 14.56
Year End Close $ 18.84 $ 18.38
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